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Plaintiff, the Bureau of Customs and Border Protection of the Department of
Homeland Security (‘‘Customs’’), seeks collection of a civil penalty pursuant to 19
U.S.C. § 1592 (1988), and customs duties concerning entries of vehicles and vehicle
components made between 1987 and 1992 by defendant, Ford Motor Company
(‘‘Ford’’). Customs alleges that Ford violated 19 U.S.C. § 1592 by acting grossly negli-
gent or negligent in making false statements or omissions in connection with the en-
try of the merchandise at issue. Accordingly, Customs seeks civil penalties in the
amount of $34,576,559 if Ford’s conduct was grossly negligent or $17,288,279 if such
conduct was negligent. Customs also requests the Court to award it $68,178 for un-
paid duties. Ford counterclaims for a refund of all or part of the $8,575,961.80 it has
tendered for duties in connection with this matter plus interest, as provided for by
law.

Held: Pursuant to the findings of fact and conclusions of law, judgment is entered
in favor of Customs. Ford acted negligently in its entry of the merchandise subject to
this action. Accordingly, Ford is assessed a civil penalty of two times the loss of rev-
enue, $17,151,923.60, plus lawful interest. Customs’ request for $68,178 for unpaid
duties is denied. Defendant’s counterclaim for a credit for duty tenders made in con-
nection with this matter is dismissed.

[Judgment is entered in favor of Customs for $17,151,923.60, plus lawful interest.]
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Peter D. Keisler, Assistant Attorney General, David M. Cohen, Director, Patricia M.
McCarthy, Assistant Director, Commercial Litigation Branch, Civil Division, United
States Department of Justice (David A. Levitt and David S. Silverbrand); of counsel:
Jeffrey E. Reim and Katherine F. Kramarich, Bureau of Customs and Border Protec-
tion, for the United States, plaintiff.

Grunfeld, Desiderio, Lebowitz, Silverman, & Klestadt, LLP (Steven P. Florsheim,
Robert B. Silverman, David M. Murphy, and Robert F. Seely); of counsel: Paulsen K.
Vandevert, for Ford Motor Company, defendant.

99



OPINION

TSOUCALAS, Senior Judge: Plaintiff, the Bureau of Customs
and Border Protection of the Department of Homeland Security
(‘‘Customs’’), seeks collection of a civil penalty pursuant to 19 U.S.C.
§ 1592 (1988), and customs duties concerning entries of vehicles and
vehicle components made between 1987 and 1992 by defendant,
Ford Motor Company (‘‘Ford’’). Customs alleges that Ford violated 19
U.S.C. § 1592 by acting grossly negligent or negligent in making
false statements or omissions in connection with the entry of the
merchandise at issue. Accordingly, Customs seeks civil penalties in
the amount of $34,576,559 if Ford’s conduct was grossly negligent or
$17,288,279 if such conduct was negligent. Customs also requests
the Court to award it $68,178 for unpaid duties. Ford counterclaims
for a refund of all or part of the $8,575,961.80 it has tendered for du-
ties in connection with this matter plus interest, as provided for by
law.

DISCUSSION

Customs filed a timely complaint on January 29, 2002, alleging
that Ford made material false statements or acts or material omis-
sions in connection with the entries of vehicles and vehicle compo-
nents entered into the United States between January 1, 1987, con-
tinuing through December 1992. See Compl. ¶¶ 4–6. In its
complaint, Customs alleges that Ford acted grossly negligent or neg-
ligent by: (1) falsely understating to Customs in its entry documents
the price it paid or agreed to pay for the subject merchandise; (2)
falsely declaring as true and correct the prices and other statements
in the entry documents for the subject merchandise; (3) failing to de-
clare on the entry documents that the prices set forth therein were
not the final prices and were subject to adjustments based upon
agreements Ford had with its suppliers; (4) failing to report upon en-
try the value of assists provided by Ford for the production of the im-
ported merchandise; and (5) failing to produce to Customs ‘‘at once’’
information received after importation indicating that prices on its
entry documents had been adjusted to include lump sum payments
made by Ford to its suppliers pursuant to purchase contracts. See id.
¶ 6. Customs claims that Ford’s false statements or material omis-
sions deprived the United States of $8,644,139.80 for lawful duty of
which $68,178 remains unpaid. See id. at ¶ 9. A bench trial was held
on March 15, 2005, through March 23, 2005, to resolve the issues of
fact remaining in this action. Pursuant to USCIT R. 52(a), ‘‘[i]n all
actions tried upon the facts without a jury . . . the court shall find
the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law
thereon. . . .’’ USCIT R. 52(a). Accordingly, the Court’s findings of fact
and conclusions of law are set forth below.
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I. Findings of Fact

At trial, Customs produced two witnesses, Mr. Michael Turner,
former Special Agent in the Detroit Customs Office of Enforcement,
and Mr. Robert Neckel, former group supervisor of the Detroit Cus-
toms Office of Enforcement. Both witnesses testified to various fac-
tual matters relevant to Customs’ investigation of Ford such as, the
scope of the investigation, the date such investigation commenced,
and the findings Customs made pursuant to its investigation. Ford
produced two witnesses, Mr. Harry Gibson, former attorney in Ford’s
Office of General Counsel, and Mr. Donald Cohen, former manager
of Ford’s International Transportation and Customs Office. Both wit-
nesses testified, inter alia, to their knowledge of Customs’ investiga-
tion and the scope of the investigation as it related to Ford. Mes-
sieurs Gibson and Cohen also testified about Ford’s customs
compliance procedures, compliance record, and Ford’s responses to
inquiries made by Customs regarding its investigation.

Customs and Ford identified documents relating to the investiga-
tion and Ford’s compliance measures. Such documents were moved
by the parties and admitted by the Court into evidence. The Court
finds most of these documents highly probative because they provide
contemporaneous accounts of events related to Customs’ investiga-
tion, Ford’s response to the investigation, and Ford’s customs compli-
ance procedures. The Court finds that the testimony of Messieurs
Gibson and Cohen was not highly probative because the demeanor of
the witnesses and the testimony they supplied proves that they did
not independently recall events or facts relevant to Customs’ investi-
gation of Ford. The Court, however, finds the testimony of Messieurs
Turner and Neckel highly probative and credible based on their de-
meanor and ability to independently recollect Customs’ investigation
of Ford.

The Court also heard testimony from: (1) Ms. Laura Cox (formerly
Ms. Laura Erpelding), former Special Agent in the Detroit Customs
Office of Enforcement; (2) Ms. Dathrenal Davis, former Import Spe-
cialist and Field National Import Specialist for the commodity auto-
motive team in Detroit Customs; (3) Mr. Richard Bridenbaugh,
former member of Ford’s customs unit; (4) Ms. Karen Monro, former
member of Ford’s customs unit; and (5) Mr. Walter Manns, former
Supervisory Import Specialist and former member of Ford’s customs
unit. Based on the demeanor and quality of testimony of these wit-
nesses, the Court finds them slightly probative because they did not
exhibit an independent recollection or have knowledge of events or
facts relating to the subject of this action. Ford and Customs stipu-
lated to the admission of deposition testimony of Mr. Phillip Kruzich,
former analyst in Ford’s customs unit, and the deposition and prior
trial testimony given in Court No. 02–00106 of Ms. Angela Ryan,
former Supervisory Import Specialist of the automotive team in De-
troit Customs.
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The testimony presented at trial along with the documents admit-
ted into evidence established by a preponderance of the evidence the
following facts.

A. Findings of Fact Relevant to the Commencement and
Scope of Customs’ Investigation

1. Ford entered the vehicles, vehicle components, tooling and re-
lated materials for the five import programs identified in Ex-
hibit A to the complaint between January 1, 1987, through De-
cember 31, 1992. See Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 3.

2. Operation Hat Trick was a trade enforcement initiative meant to
‘‘subject certain Big Three import programs to joint Office of En-
forcement, Commercial Operations, and Regulatory Audit scru-
tiny to identify undeclared assists and indirect payments, deter-
mine the level of culpability of parties responsible for the failure
to declare the assists/payments, and, refer cases for criminal
and civil action as appropriate.’’ Pl.’s Ex. 70; see also Trial Tran-
script (‘‘TT’’) at 37–39. Operation Hat Trick was initiated by Mr.
Turner, based on his personal observations and information ob-
tained from import specialists indicating that Ford and other car
manufacturers were not declaring the full value, or price paid or
to be paid, for merchandise entered into the United States. See
TT at 37–38 & 283.

3. Plaintiff moved into evidence several reports of investigation
(‘‘ROI’’) prepared by Mr. Turner or Ms. Cox in the ordinary
course of their business as special agents of Customs’ Office of
Enforcement. See Pl.’s Ex. 1, 52, 59, 70, 71. The Court places
substantial weight on the veracity of the ROIs that were con-
temporaneously written with events concerning the commence-
ment of Customs’ investigation of Ford. See Pl.’s Ex. 70 & 71.
The Court gives less weight to the ROIs which summarized the
findings of Customs’ investigation, particularly ROI #15 and
ROI #22, because these ROIs were prepared in anticipation of
penalty proceedings. See e.g., Pl.’s Ex. 1, 52 & 59. In preparing
certain ROIs, the special agents often used notes and previous
ROIs to compile their findings. See TT at 170–172; see e.g., Pl.’s
Ex. 52 at 5 (referencing ROIs #3 & 5). While events are recorded
in ROIs #15, 22, and 27, see Pl.’s Ex. 1, 52, 59, these ROIs also
contain the legal conclusions of Customs. See TT at 185 & 226.
For example, ROI #22, dated November 23, 1994, is a penalty re-
ferral reporting the findings of Customs’ Office of Enforcement
as well as making legal conclusions relating to Ford’s culpability
under 19 U.S.C. § 1592. See Pl.’s Ex. 1. Consequently, the Court
gives ROIs #15, 22, and 27 less weight than the earlier reports,
ROI #1 and 2, because the former did not simply record contem-
poraneous events or facts.
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4. Operation Hat Trick ‘‘included all the components surrounding
value, material omissions, undervaluations, payments that may
not have been reflected on the invoice that was submitted with
the entry summary. . . .’’ TT at 283; see also TT 37–38.

5. During Operation Hat Trick, Customs looked at Ford’s prior im-
portations and found repeated instances where Ford had ‘‘failed
to declare and pay duties on assists and indirect payments at
the time of entry summary, but only declared those assists/
payments in response to import specialist Requests for Informa-
tion (‘CF–28s’).’’1 Pl.’s Ex. 71 at 1; See also TT at 283.

6. The Ford vehicle and vehicle component programs investigated
by Customs included the Lincoln Mercury Capri (‘‘Capri),2 Ford
Festiva (‘‘Festiva’’), Mercury Tracer and Taurus SHO engine
(‘‘Yamaha SHO engine’’). See Pl.’s Ex. 70.

7. On May 23, 1991, Customs notified Ford by letter that it had
opened a formal investigation of Ford ‘‘concerning the proper
declaration of assists and indirect payments in imports of ve-
hicles and vehicle component assemblies.’’ Pl.’s Ex. 5; see also TT
at 39–42; Pl.’s Ex. 71; Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 14.

8. Ford requested a meeting with Customs to discuss the May 23,
1991, letter because neither Mr. Gibson nor Mr. Cohen knew
what Customs meant by an indirect payment. See TT at 496–97;
see also TT at 45–46. Ford did not ‘‘make indirect payments in
terms of the general definition that we knew; that is, a payment
to A, A makes a payment to B for the benefit of C. That is what
we thought was an indirect payment, and Ford did not do that.’’
TT at 498; see also TT at 508.

9. The meeting was held on June 7, 1991, and was attended by
Messieurs Turner and Neckel from Customs and Messieurs
Gibson, Cohen, and Ron Hamell from Ford (the ‘‘June 1991
Meeting’’). See TT at 45–50; Pl.’s Ex. 71.

10. The scope of the investigation, the meaning of the term ‘‘indirect
payment,’’ and prior disclosure were issues discussed at the
June 1991 Meeting. See TT at 45–50, 480–81, 489, 498–99; Pl.’s
Ex. 71. Customs explained to Ford that ‘‘the investigation was
going to look at the full scope of their imports of automobiles and
automobile parts; that [Customs] would be looking programati-
cally one program at a time.’’ TT at 47; see also TT at 51–52; Pl.’s
Ex. 71.

11. Messieurs Cohen and Gibson testified that they asked for a defi-
nition of ‘‘indirect payment’’ from Customs at the June 1991
Meeting, but Ford never received a definition from Customs. See
TT at 481 & 498. Mr. Gibson testified that, ‘‘We asked what was

1 A CF 28 was a request for information made by Customs to importers when it had ques-
tions regarding an entry. See TT at 304–05.

2 The Capri was also referred to as the ‘‘SA30’’ vehicle. See Pl.’s Ex. 52 at 5.
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an indirect payment. Agent Turner says ‘Here.’ He presents two
summonses . . . I signed for the two summonses, and we said we
would get back to them with our responses, and we left.’’ TT at
498; see also TT 510 (stating that Ford left the meeting not un-
derstanding the meaning of indirect payments). The Court finds
it incredible that Ford requested the meeting to discuss the defi-
nition of the term ‘‘indirect payment’’ only to leave the meeting
without having received a satisfactory response from Customs.

12. During the June 1991 Meeting, Customs served Ford with a
summons relating to the Capri program. See Pl.’s Ex. 7 & 71; TT
at 53–56.

13. The summons requested ‘‘all original records and documents re-
lated to any and all assists and payment made by Ford Motor
Company in connection with the design, development, engineer-
ing, production, purchase, and importation of Mercury Capri au-
tomobiles into the United States. . . .’’ Pl.’s Ex. 7. The scope of
the investigation with regard to Capri ‘‘involved . . . all records
relating to the importation of Capri and Capri parts.’’ TT at 482;
see also TT at 285.

14. Ford was advised at the June 1991 Meeting that Customs’ inves-
tigation included the entire scope of Ford’s importations of cer-
tain vehicles and vehicle components. See TT at 286–88; Pl.’s Ex.
71.

15. Ford knew or should have known that the term ‘‘indirect pay-
ment,’’ as used by Customs in its notification to Ford of the in-
vestigation, included all payments that impacted the final price
paid by Ford for the merchandise in question. See TT at 511–12.
The term ‘‘indirect payments’’ included lump sum payments for
engineering and manufacturing expenses, retroactive price ad-
justments, and volume price adjustments. See TT at 47–48, 284,
287–88, 482; Pl.’s Ex. 71.

16. An assist is an item provided by the buyer, such as Ford, to the
seller either free or at a reduced cost for the design, development
or production of merchandise imported into the United States.
See Joint Ex. 2 at G at 17; see also TT at 284 & 493.

17. ‘‘The investigation included all payment, indirect or otherwise,
so [Customs] wanted to be sure that we were thorough and we
got the information relative to all payment.’’ TT at 286. ‘‘At the
conclusion of the meeting Ford indicated that they better under-
stood what [Customs was] looking at; the fact that it was auto-
mobiles and automobile parts; that it was both the actual pro-
viding of assists as well as payments that impacted the agreed
upon price.’’ TT at 48.

18. Ford was advised by Customs that the investigation would en-
compass entries made between 1987 through the 1991 model
year. See TT at 188–90. Importations related to the 1992 model
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year and thereafter were not within the scope of Customs’ inves-
tigation. See TT at 188–90.

B. Findings of Fact Relevant to Ford’s Reconciliation
Agreement with Customs

19. Ford’s supply agreements with many of its foreign vendors con-
tained post-importation price adjustments, which typically pro-
vided a per vehicle or vehicle component base price subject to
possible modifications. See Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 1. Al-
though the prices Ford paid for vehicles and vehicle components
was ‘‘fairly firm,’’ the prices could increase based on the supply
agreements Ford had with its vendors. See TT at 492.

20. The supply agreements requiring lump sum payments, retroac-
tive price adjustments and other post-entry payments were ne-
gotiated and signed prior to the shipment of the merchandise.
See TT at 512.

21. In a letter dated October 14, 1988, Ford proposed to Customs a
change in how it reported lump sum payments. See Pl.’s Ex. 55.
In its letter, Ford stated that a lump sum annual reconciliation
report would allow Ford to track all lump sum billings through-
out the entire model year and reduce the paperwork and time
associated with the reconciliation process for both Ford and Cus-
toms. See id. Ford proposed the following policy:

1. The Ford Motor Company will track all lump sum billings
throughout each model year (July 1 to June 30) and report the
dutiable expenses associated with each import program. Cred-
its will be used to offset relevant debits with final dutiable ex-
penses being reported. If the final dutiable expense results in
a credit balance to the Ford Motor Company, a negative report
will be presented to U.S. Customs. Dutiable expenses for fu-
ture model year import programs will be recorded in their re-
spective model year and reported at the close of the model
year.

. . .

3. An annual reconciliation report will be prepared for each
import program and filed with the Detroit customs district
within 60 days after the close of each model year (July 30) to
enable us to followup and capture all relevant model year ex-
penses. All backup data will be retained in our office and will
be available for your review up request.

Pl.’s Ex. 55 (emphasis in original).

22. In a letter dated August 29, 1989, Customs accepted Ford’s pro-
posal to report and reconcile lump sum payments on an annual
basis (‘‘Reconciliation Agreement’’). See Pretrial Order, Schedule
C ¶ 8. Customs, however, made two modifications to Ford’s pro-
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posal: (1) Ford would not be allowed to offset debits with credits;
and (2) Ford would only be allowed to annually reconcile with-
held duties on entry summaries which had already been liqui-
dated. See Pl.’s Ex. 55. Customs response did not indicate a
modification to the time period proposed by Ford. See Pl.’s Ex.
55; TT at 550.

23. A model year ran from July 1 to June 30. See Pretrial Order,
Schedule C ¶ 2.

24. Under the Reconciliation Agreement, Ford was obligated to file
its annual reconciliation report with Detroit Customs within 60
days of the end of the model year, i.e. August 31. See Pl.’s Ex. 55;
see also Pl.’s Ex. 17 at 2 (Ford states that certain costs incurred
for Yamaha SHO engines ‘‘will be declared 60 days after the end
of the 1992 model scheduled to end July 30, 1992’’); TT at
307–09 & 476–77. Mr. Kruzich testified that he came up with
the 60 day time period because he ‘‘thought it was reasonable at
the time.’’ Joint Ex. 2 at 114.

25. With the exception of one reconciliation report, see Pl.’s Ex. 8,
Ford failed to file reconciliation reports within 60 days of the
end of the model year. See e.g., Pl.’s Ex. 14, 15, 17, 19, 20; Def.’s
Ex. LL, MM, NN.

26. Ford was not notified of the untimely nature of its submissions.
See TT at 322–23, 355–56, 394. Ford did not ask Customs for
permission to extend the 60 day period. See TT. at 364; Joint Ex.
2 at 117.

27. Ms. Monro, the Ford employee responsible for the reconciliation
program from approximately 1990 through 1993, see TT at 381,
was not aware of the deadline for the submission of reconcilia-
tion reports to Customs. See TT at 392.

28. The lump sum payments Ford made to its suppliers were made
subsequent to entry and, therefore, the amount of the payments
was not known at the time of entry. See TT at 382. The invoices
or entry documents reviewed to make reconciliation reports did
not indicate that the prices were subject to change. See TT at
410 & 492.

29. ‘‘[A]ny expenses that came in for a model year for a particular
program after that model year closed went into the program
folder for the next model year when [Ford] would declare it.’’ TT
at 386; see also TT at 402–03 & 435–36. ‘‘If the entry had been
liquidated, then [Ford] would tack . . . the additional duties onto
an entry that was not liquidated even though the entry may not
have related to the program that initially incurred it.’’ TT at 488;
see also Joint Ex. 2 at 179.

30. Ford began the reconciliation process at the end of the model
year, see TT at 387–88, even though the reconciliation process
‘‘could take anywhere from a few months to six months to eight
months.’’ TT at 391.
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31. Between 1987 and 1992, Customs did not have a regulation re-
quiring an importer to put a statement on the entry documents
indicating that the price may change after entry. See TT at 531;
Joint Ex. 1 at 511.

32. Ford did not entirely capture additional assists or lump sum
payments in its initial reconciliation reports for each program.
See TT at 471 & 474–75; Joint Ex. 2 at Z.

C. Findings of Fact Relevant to Ford’s Unreported Tooling
Assists and Payments for 1987–1992

33. Ford had a program to report assists, whereby it gathered infor-
mation about assists at the time of importation and paid all du-
ties related to such assists on the first entry. See TT at 493–94.

34. Assists related to vehicles and vehicle components ‘‘start to oc-
cur in Ford’s major programs sometimes two, three years prior
to the good actually being imported into the United States.’’ TT
at 493.

35. Ford also declared assists by ‘‘looking at the total assists versus
the total sales, [and] coming up with a factor, and adding that to
the entry that [Ford] brought across from . . . Canada.’’ TT at
495.

36. If Ford learned of an additional assist after the first importa-
tion, then Ford would ‘‘sweep those and file them as necessary.’’
TT at 494.

37. On May 22, 1992, Ford submitted a letter to Customs, which it
claimed was a prior disclosure relating to certain undervalua-
tions of imported tooling assists from 1987 through 1992. See
Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 24; Pl.’s Ex. 22. Customs, however,
did not accept the letter as a prior disclosure. See Pretrial Order,
Schedule C ¶ 24. Ford stated that the tooling assists were ‘‘omit-
ted from the dutiable values of the related parts because of inad-
equate instructions to certain Ford foreign suppliers.’’ Pl.’s Ex.
22.

38. On August 6, 1992 Ford submitted a letter to Customs claiming
to be a prior disclosure relating to lump sum payments for mer-
chandise imported between 1987 and August 6, 1992. See Pre-
trial Order, Schedule C ¶ 39; Pl.’s Ex. 32. Ford explained that
‘‘[t]he undervaluation of these imported goods was due to revi-
sions to the price of these goods made subsequent to their impor-
tation and not identified by Ford and reported to U.S. Customs.’’
Pl.’s Ex. 32.

39. On October 22, 1992, Ford indicated to Customs that it had
manufactured developmental engine parts for engines manufac-
tured at its Essex Engine Plant located in Canada (‘‘Essex
Plant’’). See Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 40. These parts were
provided free of charge to the plant and Ford had provided
$1,327,455 of such parts for the 1990, 1991, and 1992 model

U.S. COURT OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE 107



year engines manufactured at the Essex Plant. See id. On April
13, 1993, Ford tendered $15,920.95 for duties for these unde-
clared assists. See id.; Pl.’s Ex. 26.

40. In a letter dated November 18, 1992, Ford advised Customs that
it had failed to identify in its previous reconciliation submissions
all of the duties and fees owed for tooling assists for merchan-
dise imported between January 1, 1987 through and including
May 22, 1992. See Pl.’s Ex. 23. The total value Ford failed to de-
clare was $41,165,251. See id.; TT at 99. As part of the reconcili-
ation, Ford tendered $1,304,847.95 in duties and fees. See Pl.’s
Ex. 23; See Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 24.

41. Ford submitted a letter, dated December 16, 1992, to Customs
claiming to be ‘‘a partial voluntary disclosure reconciliation of
additional duties and fees owed for unreported retroactive price
adjustment payments and lump-sum payments for imported
goods made during the period January 1, 1987 through various
dates in July 1992.’’ Pl.’s Ex. 33. In connection with these pay-
ments, Ford tendered $848,262.34 as unpaid duties and fees and
stated that it needed further time to analyze some additional
payments. See id.; Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 39.

42. On January 29, 1993, Ford tendered an additional $17,888.23
for duties and fees for unreported lump sum payments for mer-
chandise imported between 1987 and 1992. See Pretrial Order,
Schedule C ¶ 39; Pl.’s Ex. 34.

43. By letter dated February 24, 1993, Ford advised Customs that it
had failed to report assists paid four years earlier, in 1989, to
Sheller-Ryobi, Indiana to produce prototype castings in Japan.
See Pl.’s Ex. 24. In connection with these payments, Ford ten-
dered $2,664.35 in duties and fees. See id.

44. In a letter dated April 6, 1993, Ford advised Customs that, be-
tween 1990 and 1992, it had provided assists to the Essex Plant
totaling $1,327,455. See Pl.’s Ex. 25. Ford tendered $15,920.95
for duties and merchandise processing fees in connection with
this merchandise. See Pl.’s Ex. 26.

45. In a letter dated February 14, 1994, Ford stated that it had dis-
covered that it had not previously reported certain tooling as-
sists for merchandise imported between 1987 through 1993. See
Pl.’s Ex. 27. Ford stated that ‘‘[c]ertain tooling assists may have
been omitted because the country of origin for some tool orders
was not coded correctly in the Ford payment records.’’ Id.

46. In two letters dated March 17, 1994, Customs advised Ford that
it would accept Ford’s letters submitted on May 22, 1992, and
March 1, 1993, relating to undeclared tooling and assists for the
period of 1987 through 1992, as prior disclosures. See Def.’s Ex.
VVV & WWW. In both instances, Customs found that the
misclassification of the relevant entries was due to Ford’s failure
to exercise reasonable care in the preparation of the entries. See
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Def.’s Ex. VVV & WWW. Therefore, Customs found Ford negli-
gent and penalized Ford the interest on the withheld duties
from the date of the liquidation and the balance of withheld du-
ties. See id.

47. By letter dated May 13, 1994, Ford advised Customs that it had
failed to declare $6,674,338 in tooling assists associated with im-
ported merchandise from 1987 through 1993. See Pl.’s Ex. 28. In
connection with these assists, Ford tendered $248,215 for duties
and fees. See id. Ford indicated that it had ‘‘discovered supplier
location coding errors in the payment records that [led] to some
tooling assists being excluded from the prior reports.’’ Id. Ford
advised Customs that it had made changes to assure that tool-
ing assists did not go undeclared due to supplier location coding
errors in payment records. See id. Ford stated that it is ‘‘now us-
ing a tooling report that uses information drawn directly from
the tool order system as well as payment record data.’’ Id.

D. Findings of Fact Relevant to the Capri Investigation

48. In April 1990, Ford began to purchase and import the Capri ve-
hicles from Ford of Australia. See Pl.’s Ex. 57 at 2. As of July 31,
1991, Ford had imported 32,959 Capri vehicles valued at over
$372,000,000. See id. In connection with the importation of the
Capri vehicles, Ford filed 23 entries between April 1990 through
July 1991. See Pl.’s Ex. 57 at Ex. A; Pl.’s Ex. 52 at 7; see also Pl.’s
Ex. 82.

49. On September 5, 1992, Ford complied with the summons issued
at the June 1991 Meeting and provided Customs with the re-
quested documents. See Pl.’s Ex. 52 at 5. Ford provided a copy of
the supply contract for the Capri vehicles, which indicated that
transfer prices would be adjusted every six months to reflect in-
creases or decreases in a market basket of similar vehicles. See
Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 19.

50. Ford made lump sum payments to Ford of Australia for the 1991
model year Capri vehicle, which were in addition to the pay-
ments reflected on the commercial invoices at the time of entry.
See Pl.’s Ex. 8 & 57 at 4.

51. Ford disclosed these lump sum payments, totaling $5,570,900, to
Customs in a letter dated August 26, 1991 and tendered a check
for $155,708 for duties and fees. See Pl.’s Ex. 8; see also Pretrial
Order, Schedule C ¶ 17.

E. Findings of Fact Relevant to the Festiva Investigation

52. Ford filed 372 entries importing Ford Festiva vehicles from Kia
Motors Corporation between December 15, 1988 and August 18,
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1989. See Pl.’s Ex. 1; see also Pl.’s Ex. 14. Ford purchased
Festiva vehicles from KM Corporation, a trading company con-
sisting of Kia Motors Corporation and Mazda Motor Corpora-
tion. See Pl.’s Ex. 14.

53. Customs issued a summons on March 20, 1992, requesting Ford
to produce ‘‘[a]ll original records and documents related to any
and all assists given and payments made by Ford Motor Com-
pany in connection with the design, development, engineering,
production, purchase, and importation of Ford Festiva automo-
biles manufactured by Kia Motors Corporation. . . .’’ Pl.’s Ex. 13;
See also Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 20.

54. In a letter dated June 5, 1992, Ford responded to the Festiva
summons and stated that ‘‘there is $11,408,470.92 of undeclared
engineering and tooling cost prior to 1993 model and
$309,169.56 is owed including duty and other fees.’’ Pl.’s Ex. 12;
Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 25. Ford tendered the duties and
fees on April 29, 1993. See Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 25. Ford
indicated that $63,893 for duties and fees were applicable to the
1993 model year which it undertook to report 60 days after the
end of the 1992 model year. See Pl.’s Ex. 12.

55. In a letter dated November 13, 1992, Ford advised Customs that
it had failed to report, in its June 5, 1990 reconciliation,
$13,358,413 paid to Kia Motors Corporation for the production
shortfall of the 1990 model year Festiva. See Pl.’s Ex. 14; Pre-
trial Order, Schedule C ¶ 27. Ford tendered $362,013 in duties
owed in connection with the shortfall payments. See id.

56. Ford and KM Corporation had a business agreement entitled
Passenger Vehicle Program Agreement (‘‘Festiva Agreement’’),
and dated July 1, 1988, containing an annual volume commit-
ment clause and volume price adjustment clause. See Pl.’s Ex.
58; Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 26. Pursuant to the annual vol-
ume commitment clause, Ford was obligated to purchase 85,000
Festivas for resale in the United States and Canada. See Pl.’s
Ex. 58 at 11.

57. Under section 2.3A of the Festiva Agreement, if the number of
orders for Festivas to be delivered during any production year
was between 50 and 90 percent of 85,000 vehicles, then ‘‘the pur-
chase price for each Ford vehicle ordered for delivery’’ would in-
crease. See Pl.’s Ex. 58 at 11–12.

58. Pursuant to section 2.3B of the Festiva Agreement, if Ford or-
dered less than 50 percent of 85,000 Festivas, then the parties
were obligated to engage in ‘‘good faith discussions.’’ See id. at
12–13. Either the purchase price for each vehicle would increase
further, or the parties would renegotiate the terms of the con-
tract or terminate the agreement. See id.
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59. If Ford purchased more than the annual volume commitment by
ten percent, then Ford would receive a lump sum payment from
KM Corporation for the adjusted purchase price as calculated
pursuant to Section 2.3C of the agreement. See Pl.’s Ex. 58 at 13.

60. The adjustments required under the Festiva Agreement were to
the purchase price of each vehicle. See Pl.’s Ex. 58, See also TT
at 77–79.

61. In a letter dated November 18, 1992, Ford advised Customs that
it had made supplemental lump sum payments in the amount of
$43,663,125 to Kia Motors for the 1991 and 1992 model year
Festiva. See Pl.’s Ex. 15; See TT at 84–86; Pretrial Order, Sched-
ule C ¶ 28. Ford tendered $1,220,384 for duties and fees associ-
ated with these payments. See Pl.’s Ex. 15, Pretrial Order,
Schedule C ¶ 28.

F. Findings of Fact Relevant to the Yamaha SHO Engines
Investigation

62. Ford made 322 entries for Yahama SHO engines between De-
cember 22, 1988 through December 31, 1991 at the ports of At-
lanta, Georgia and Detroit, Michigan. See Pretrial Order, Sched-
ule C ¶ 33.

63. There were three variations to the Yamaha SHO engines: (1) the
3.0 liter engine introduced with the launch of the Taurus
SHO1988 model; (2) the 3.2 liter engine introduced in July 1992
for the 1993 model year; and (3) the 3.4 liter engine that was to
be introduced at the launch of the 1996 model. See Pl.’s Ex. 17.

64. By letter dated January, 31, 1991, Ford advised Customs that it
had made supplemental lump sum payments of $5,762,129 to
Ford of Germany for the 1990 model year 2.9 liter V-6 engines.
See Def.’s Ex. LL. In connection with these payments, Ford ten-
dered $190,727 for duties and fees. See id. Ford also advised
Customs that it had made supplemental lump sum payments of
$77,217,109 to Ford of Germany for 1990 model year 4.0 liter
V-6 engines. See Def.’s Ex. MM. In connection with these pay-
ments, Ford tendered $2,128,953 for duties and fees. See id.

65. In a letter dated January 31, 1991, Ford advised Customs that it
had made supplemental lump sum payments of $58,457,120 to
Ford of France for the 1990 model year A4LD Bordeaux trans-
missions. See Def.’s Ex. NN. Ford tendered $1,665,215 for duties
and fees in connection with these payments. See id.

66. Customs issued a summons on January 22, 1992, requesting
Ford to produce ‘‘[a]ll original records and documents related to
any and all assists given and payments made by Ford,’’ in con-
nection with automobile engines manufactured by the Yamaha
Motor Co., Ltd. for the Taurus SHO automobile. See Pl.’s Ex. 18;
TT at 88–89; see also Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 29.
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67. Ford’s response to the summons, on June 5, 1992, indicated that
the value declared for the 3.0 liter engine had been $15,100,449
but that the total value had been $15,387,841. See Pl.’s Ex. 17 at
3. Accordingly, Ford advised Customs that it was liable for
$287,112 in undeclared value for the 3.0 liter engine. See id. at
3–4; Pretrial Order ¶ 30. Ford tendered an additional $9,623.16
for duties and fees owed in connection with Customs’ investiga-
tion of the 3.0 liter engine. See Pl.’s Ex. 21; Pretrial Order,
Schedule C ¶ 30. Ford also informed Customs that there were
$14,779,026 in prototype and development costs for the 3.2 liter
SHO engine for the 1993 model year, which would be declared
60 days after the end of the 1992 model year. See Pl.’s Ex. 17;
See Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 32.

68. Ford also provided Customs with a copy of its supply agreement,
indicating that the base price for the SHO engines could be ad-
justed. See Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 31.

69. In a letter dated November 13, 1992, Ford identified $2,158,417
in retroactive payments it made between 1987 through 1991 for
the 3.0 liter engines, which it had failed to include in its June 5,
1992, reconciliation. See Pl.’s Ex. 19; see also Pretrial Order,
Schedule C ¶ 34. Ford tendered $59,707 for duties and fees in
connection with these lump sum payments. See Pl.’s Ex. 19.

70. In a letter dated November 18, 1992, Ford tendered $404,100 for
duties associated with lump sum payments of $14,274,097 re-
lated to design and development costs for the 3.2 liter SHO en-
gines made during 1991 and 1992. See Pl.’s Ex. 20; Pretrial Or-
der, Schedule C ¶ 35. Ford also indicated that at the end of the
1993 model year it would reconcile actual usage and tender ad-
ditional money owed or request a refund based on actual occur-
rences during the 1993 model year. See Pl.’s Ex. 20; Pretrial Or-
der, Schedule C ¶ 35.

71. In a meeting with Customs Import Specialist Spiro Karras held
on December 18, 1992, Ford admitted that it had not declared
development costs apportioned to Yamaha prototype 3.2 liter
SHO engines that were to be retained in Japan rather than
shipped to the United States. See Pretrial Order, Schedule C
¶ 36. Ford sought advice from Customs’ Office of Regulations
and Rulings (‘‘Customs’ OR&R’’) on March 26, 1993. See id. Ford
was advised that the development costs should be apportioned
over the imported production engines. See id.; Pl.’s Ex. 59 at 5.
Customs’ OR&R advised Ford that the payment for development
and design costs were attributable to the production of engines
and, therefore, constituted the price actually paid or payable for
the 3.2 liter SHO engines. See Pl.’s Ex. 59 at 5. Ford has not ten-
dered $68,178 of alleged duties owed on the undeclared develop-
ment costs for 3.2 liter SHO engines. See Pretrial Order, Sched-
ule C ¶ 37.
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G. Findings of Fact Relevant to Customs Investigation of
Engines From Germany and Transmissions from
France

72. Prior to the commencement of Operation Hat Trick, Ford filed a
voluntary disclosure on August 3, 1988, relating to undeclared
lump sum payments made to Ford of France and Ford of Ger-
many. See Pl.’s Ex. 1 at 22; Joint Ex. 2 at Z. In a letter dated Oc-
tober 3, 1988, Ford tendered duties and fees in connection with
these payments. See Joint Ex. 2 at Z. Ford informed Customs
that it had taken corrective action and that its accounting ser-
vices had been instructed to provide copies of all debit and credit
memoranda it processed. See id.; TT at 255–56.

73. In letters dated March 23, 1992, Ford advised Customs that
lump sum payments totaling $21,401,808 and $32,130,256 had
been made to Ford of Germany for 1991 model year 2.9 liter and
4.0 liter V-6 engines, respectively. See Pretrial Order, Schedule C
¶ 21–22; Pl.’s Ex. 29 & 31. Ford tendered $726,591 and
$1,047,074, respectively, for duties and fees associated with
these payments. See Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 21–22; Pl.’s
Ex. 29 & 31.

74. Ford informed Customs, in a letter dated May 6, 1993, that it
had made lump sum payments to Ford of Germany totaling
$4,783,094 for 1991 model year 2.6 liter V-6 engines. See Pretrial
Order, Schedule C ¶ 42; Pl.’s Ex. 36. Ford tendered $162,625 for
duties and fees in connection with these payments. See Pl.’s Ex.
36.

75. Ford disclosed on May 6, 1993, that it had made lump sum pay-
ments to Ford of Germany for 1992 model year 4.0 liter V-6 en-
gines in the amount of $25,782,651. See Pl.’s Ex. 35; Pretrial Or-
der, Schedule C ¶ 43. Ford tendered $695,874 in unpaid duties
and fees in connection with these payments. See Pl.’s Ex. 35.

76. On May 28, 1993, Customs issued a summons to Ford request-
ing ‘‘documents and information regarding ‘lump sum payments’
on engines imported from Ford of Germany for the period Janu-
ary 1990 to the present. . . .’’ Pl.’s Ex. 39; see also Pretrial Order,
Schedule C ¶ 45.

77. In a letter dated August 9, 1993, Ford responded to Customs’
summons. See Pl.’s Ex. 38. Ford adjusted the 1990 submission
data relating to 1990 model year V-6 engines from Germany re-
sulting in additional duties and fees of $73,635.13, which Ford
tendered. See id.; TT at 258.

78. By letter dated March 23, 1992, Ford informed Customs that it
had made lump sum payments in the amount of $10,875,431 to
Ford of France for 1991 model year A4LD Bordeaux transmis-
sions. See Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 23; Pl.’s Ex. 30. Ford ten-
dered $339,379 for duties and fees in connection with these pay-
ments. See Pl.’s Ex. 30.
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79. Ford informed Customs by letter, dated May 6, 1993, that it had
made lump sum payments to Ford of France in the amount of
$16,359,794 for 1992 model year A4LD Bordeaux transmissions
and tendered $458,893 for unpaid duties and fees. See Pl.’s Ex.
37; Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 44.

80. Ford informed Customs by letter dated September 2, 1993, that
the value of certain lump sum payments relating to transmis-
sions imported from Ford of France for the 1989 through 1992
model year were not reported to Customs because of ‘‘incorrect
currency exchange rates applied at the time of payment, missing
billing invoices and a change in Ford’s internal tracking/
reporting process from manual to a mechanized procedure.’’ Pl.’s
Ex. 42.

81. In a letter dated December 1, 1993, Ford explained how it calcu-
lated duties and fees it owed on the additional payments re-
ferred to in its September 2, 1993, letter. See Pl.’s Ex. 43. Ford
determined that it had not declare $4,973,042 of value upon en-
try of the merchandise. See id.; Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 47.
Ford calculated that it owed $113,387.68 for duties and fees and
tendered a check to Customs in that amount. See id.

H. Ford’s Compliance Measures

82. After the June 1991 Meeting, Ford undertook a review of earlier
post-entry submissions and tenders dating from 1987 through
1992 (‘‘Five Year Look Back’’). TT at 446–48. Mr. Cohen testified
that the Five Year Look Back was not in response to a sum-
mons.3 See TT at 447. Mr. Gibson testified that the review did
not occur after Ford was notified of Customs’ investigation. See
TT at 503–04. No testimony or documentary evidence was pre-
sented at trial to support the conclusion that Ford had under-
taken a Five Year Look Back prior to the commencement of Cus-
toms’ investigation or that it has undertaken such a review with
regard to any other program that was not within the scope of
Customs’ investigation. The Court finds the testimony of Mes-
sieurs Cohen and Gibson incredible and finds that the Five Year
Look Back was in response to Customs’ investigation of Ford.

83. Ford had a Customs compliance manual which instructed Ford
employees on how to properly file documents for imported goods.
See TT at 422; Joint Ex. 2 at G.

84. Ford’s compliance manual states that, ‘‘[t]he invoice must be
priced so that the true value can be ascertained. In the event
that the value is not completely and correctly shown, a ‘provi-
sional’ disclaimer is stated on the invoice, thereby advising cus-

3 When asked when the reviews began, Mr. Cohen did not recall if it was before or after
the commencement of Customs’ investigation. See TT at 447.
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toms.’’ Joint Ex. 2 at G at 12. The manual further explains that
Ford is required to report to Customs all extraneous dutiable
payments that affect the original entered value of the imported
merchandise. See Joint Ex. 2 at G. Examples of extraneous pay-
ments list in the manual may be in the form of: (a) retroactive
adjustments; (b) lump sum payments for engineering and manu-
facturing expenses; ©) adjustments for currency fluctuations; or
(d) volume price adjustments. See id.

85. Ford sent a draft copy of the manual to Customs for review and
comment. See TT at 423. Customs offered several suggestions,
which Ford subsequently incorporated in its final manual. See
Def.’s Ex. H; TT at 423 & 425.

86. During the relevant time period, Ford had training videos, a
Customs compliance hotline, and held seminars and meetings to
make its employees aware of their responsibilities with regard
to complying with Customs’ laws and regulations. See Def.’s Ex.
J, K, & L; see also TT at 381 & 425–28.

87. Ford received a letter from Customs’ regional director, in Sep-
tember 1988, commending Ford ‘‘for recognizing the importance
of complying with Customs’ regulations and taking constructive
and positive steps to educate other members of the Ford Motor
Company community in these matters.’’ Def.’s Ex. Q.

88. Ford’s purchasing and finance departments were instructed to
provide Ford’s customs unit ‘‘with copies of anything that might
impact the cost of the goods.’’ TT at 437. Every Ford employee in
the purchasing department involved in overseas purchases was
instructed to provide a copy of the purchase order to Ford’s In-
ternational Transportation and Customs Office. See Joint Ex. 2
at 19. The employees of Ford’s purchasing unit, however, did not
always comply with these instructions. See id.

89. Ford’s customs unit ‘‘had to rely on the procedures in place at
the time that we were to get a copy of the purchase order, pe-
riod.’’ Joint Ex. 2 at 30. If a purchase order was not sent to
Ford’s customs unit then it would not know what was being im-
ported. See id. at 31. Ford’s customs unit knew that Ford’s pur-
chasing unit’s failure to provide it with purchase orders would
open Ford to liability for failure to report dutiable payments. See
id.

90. After Operation Hat Trick had commenced, Ford proposed to
Customs a change in its methodology for reporting dutiable as-
sists. See Def.’s Ex. V. In a letter dated August 26, 1992, Ford ad-
vised Customs that it ‘‘would like to discontinue reporting assist
values at the time of the first importation of the applicable
goods.’’ Id. Instead, Ford proposed to provide Customs with in-
formation on potential assists before importation, in July for the
upcoming year, and report and tender duties on such assists in
December of the following year. See id. Customs, in a letter
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dated February 1, 1993, accepted Ford’s proposal to change its
methodology of reporting assists. See Def.’s Ex. W.

91. In a report dated October 27, 2000, Customs assessed Ford’s
compliance and import practices beginning in 1995. See Joint
Ex. 1 at Ex. 114. Customs’ audit of Ford found that ‘‘Ford lacked
adequate internal control procedures in . . . verifying the reli-
ability of their brokers’ work [and] . . . ensuring the reporting of
correct values on entries. . . .’’ Id. Customs, found, however, that
Ford ‘‘has attempted to improve their Customs compliance
through their involvement in various other programs.’’ Id. Based
on corrective action taken by Ford, Customs’ Compliance Assess-
ment Team recommended that ‘‘Ford’s imports . . . should re-
ceive the level of cargo examinations and document reviews as-
sociated with companies that pose a low risk.’’ Id.

II. Conclusions of law

The Court has jurisdiction of this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1582 (2000).4 In actions brought for the recovery of any monetary
penalty claimed under section 592 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as
amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1592, all issues are tried de novo, see 28
U.S.C. § 2640(a)(6) (2000), including the amount of the penalty. See
19 U.S.C. § 1592(e)(1). The level of culpability has a direct correla-
tion to the maximum amount of penalty that can be assessed. See 19
U.S.C. § 1592©).

Customs has alleged that Ford violated 19 U.S.C. § 1592, thereby
depriving the United States of all or a portion of lawful duty through
grossly negligent or, in the alternative, negligent conduct. See
Compl. In pertinent part, 19 U.S.C. § 1592(a) states:

Without regard to whether the United States is or may be de-
prived of all or a portion of any lawful duty thereby, no person,
by fraud, gross negligence, or negligence–

(A) may enter, introduce, or attempt to enter or introduce
any merchandise into the commerce of the United States
by means of–
(I) any document, written or oral statement, or act
which is material and false, or
(ii) any omission which is material.

4 The relevant portions of the statute state:

The Court of International Trade shall have exclusive jurisdiction of any civil action
which arises out of an import transaction and which is commenced by the United
States—

(1) to recover a civil penalty under section 592 . . . of the Tariff Act of 1930 . . .
(3) to recover customs duties.

28 U.S.C. § 1582.
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19 U.S.C. § 1592(a). An act or omission is deemed material if it has
the potential to alter the appraisement or liability for duty. See 19
C.F.R. pt. 171, App. B(A) (1992). The issue of materiality is for the
Court to determine. See United States v. Hitachi Am., Ltd. (‘‘Hitachi
I’’), 21 CIT 373, 386, 964 F. Supp. 344, 360 (1997), aff ’d in part and
rev’d in part on other grounds, 172 F.3d 1319 (Fed. Cir. 1999); see
also United States v. Rockwell Int’l Corp., 10 CIT 38, 42, 628 F. Supp.
206, 210 (1986) (stating that ‘‘the measurement of the materiality of
the false statement is its potential impact upon Customs’ determina-
tion of the correct duty for the imported merchandise’’).

As a threshold issue, Ford asserts that Customs failed to offer into
evidence entries related to the subject merchandise, except for the
Capri vehicle and Yamaha SHO engine entry documents. See Def.’s
Post-Trial Br. at 16–17. Ford argues that, without the entries admit-
ted into evidence, the Court has no means of evaluating Customs’
claim that the entered values were false or that Ford failed to notify
Customs that the prices reflected therein were not final. See id.
Ford’s argument is flawed because the statutory language contem-
plates violations where the importer has either made material omis-
sions or failed to act. Accordingly, an importer may violate the stat-
ute by failing to provide Customs with entry documents in the first
place. Pursuant to Ford’s argument, Customs would be precluded
from successfully bringing an action pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1592 in
instances where entry documents or specific entry information was
never submitted to Customs. This reasoning is untenable and con-
tradicts the plain language of the statute.

The totality of the evidence submitted at trial provides the Court
with enough evidence of the values Ford declared on its entry docu-
ments. Therefore, such documents need not be introduced and ad-
mitted into evidence. The testimony of Ford’s own witnesses estab-
lished its failure to declare assists at entry and Ford’s failure to alert
Customs ‘‘at once’’ of dutiable lump sump payments made after en-
try. See e.g. Pl.’s Ex. 12, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 23, 24, 25, 28, 29, 30, 31,
33, 35, 36 37; See also TT at 402–03; 435–36, 488. Such failures and
acts may be found by a trier of fact to constitute gross negligence or
negligence in violation of 19 U.S.C. § 1592. Based on the testimony
and evidence presented at trial, the Court finds that there is suffi-
cient evidence to evaluate Customs’ claim that values appearing on
Ford’s entry documents were false or that Ford failed to notify Cus-
toms that the prices reflected therein were not final.

A. Customs Failed to Establish by a Preponderance of the
Evidence that Ford’s Conduct Was Grossly Negligent

1. Statutory Background

Gross negligence arises ‘‘if it results from an act or acts (of com-
mission or omission) done with actual knowledge of or wanton disre-
gard for the relevant facts and with indifference to or disregard for
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the offender’s obligations under the statute.’’ 19 C.F.R. pt. 171, App.
B(C)(2). A finding of gross negligence requires the Court to deter-
mine that Ford’s omissions of information from entry documents and
its failure to comply with its statutory obligations was willful, wan-
ton or reckless or that the evidence before the Court illustrates
Ford’s utter lack of care. See Mach. Corp. of Am. v. Gullfiber AB, 774
F.2d 467, 473 (Fed. Cir. 1985) (citation omitted). Gross negligence in-
volves a type of intent which is a question of fact and not law. See
United States v. Hitachi Am., Ltd., 172 F.3d 1319, 1326 (Fed. Cir.
1999); see also Allen Organ Co. v. Kimball Int’l, Inc., 839 F.2d 1556,
1567 (Fed. Cir. 1988) (stating that ‘‘intent is a factual determination
particularly within the province of the trier of fact’’).

Customs bears the burden of establishing all the elements of the
alleged violation. See 19 U.S.C. § 1592(e)(3). Customs must estab-
lish such elements by a preponderance of the evidence, which ‘‘is the
general burden assigned in civil cases for factual matters.’’ St. Paul
Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. United States, 6 F.3d 763, 769 (Fed. Cir.
1993). Preponderance of the evidence is ‘‘the greater weight of evi-
dence, evidence which is more convincing than the evidence which is
offered in opposition to it.’’ Id. (quoting Hale v. FAA, 772 F.2d 882,
885 (Fed. Cir. 1985)). Based on the testimony and documents sub-
mitted during trial, the Court finds that Customs has failed to meet
its burden of proof.

2. Discussion

Customs has not established that Ford acted with a wanton disre-
gard for the relevant facts and with indifference to or disregard for
its obligations under 19 U.S.C. § 1592. During the relevant time pe-
riod, Ford had a customs compliance manual setting forth the duties
of its employees for reporting dutiable values to Customs. See TT at
422; Joint Ex. 2 at G. Customs reviewed Ford’s manual and made
several comments and recommendations, see Def.’s Ex. H, which
Ford subsequently incorporated into its compliance manual. See TT
at 423 & 425. Moreover, Ford produced training videos, see Def.’s Ex.
J, K & L, maintained a compliance hotline and held seminars and
meetings relating to Ford’s compliance with Customs’ rules and
regulations. See TT at 381 & 421–28. The evidence showed that Ford
had mechanisms in place which enabled it to comply with its statu-
tory obligations to properly enter merchandise. See Joint Ex. 2 at R,
Z, CC, DD, EE, II, JJ, KK.

The mere existence of such mechanisms, however, does not com-
pletely prevent Customs from establishing that Ford was grossly
negligent. Customs may meet its burden by demonstrating that Ford
disregarded or was indifferent to the internal compliance measures
it put into place. Ford’s compliance measures relieve Ford from gross
negligence liability only if (a) such mechanisms set forth procedures
and guidelines that, if followed, ensured Ford’s fulfillment of its
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statutory duties, and (b) Ford made a good faith effort to follow its
internal compliance measures. Ford satisfied the first requirement.
Customs’ positive review of Ford’s compliance manual established
that Ford’s compliance mechanisms would allow Ford to meet its
statutory obligations. See TT at 423 & 425, Def ’s Ex. H. The Court,
therefore, must determine whether Ford made a good faith attempt
to implement and follow its internal compliance measures.

Based on the testimony and documentary evidence produced, the
Court finds that Customs failed to establish by a preponderance of
the evidence that Ford did not make a good faith effort to follow its
internal compliance measures or statutory obligations. Ford’s sub-
mission of reconciliation reports illustrates Ford’s understanding of
its duty to report additional transaction values incurred after entry.
See e.g., Pl.’s Ex. 8, 12, 19. Ford actively tried to fulfill its duty under
19 U.S.C. § 1485 to inform Customs of changes to the value declared
on its entry documents. Credible evidence was admitted at trial
showing that Ford attempted to reconcile the difference between the
prices reported to Customs at the time of entry and the final price
paid. See e.g., Pl.’s Ex. 8, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 30, 31, 32, 33, 35, 36,
37. In October 1988, Ford proposed the Reconciliation Agreement as
a means of increasing the efficiency of reporting lump sum payments
to Customs. See Pl.’s Ex. 55. Ford indicated that the proposed
changes would aid both Customs and Ford by reducing paperwork
and the amount of time needed to report lump sum payments. See
id. Ford undertook to report lump sum payments on an annual ba-
sis. See id. From about 1990 through 1993, Ford had an employee,
Ms. Monro, who was responsible for implementing Ford’s lump sum
reconciliation program. See TT at 381. Ford submitted reconciliation
reports to Customs when it failed to capture certain lump sum pay-
ments or assists. See TT at 381–82, 471, 474–75; Joint Ex. 2 at Z; See
e.g., Pl.’s Ex. 8, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 23, 24, 25, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33,
35, 36, 37. Accordingly, Ford’s attempt to reconcile the price paid
with the price reported at entry demonstrates that Ford did not act
with wanton disregard or indifference to its statutory obligations,
which were set forth in its compliance manual.

A showing of utter lack of care would have required Customs to es-
tablish that Ford made no attempt to meet its statutory obligations.
To meet its burden of proof, Customs had to demonstrate Ford’s fail-
ure to act upon relevant facts indicating that Ford’s entry procedures
were deficient. Ford’s attempt to reconcile the price actually paid
and the price declared at entry along with the training videos, cus-
toms compliance hotline, and seminars relating to customs compli-
ance illustrates that Ford did not act with wanton disregard or indif-
ference to its internal compliance program. The testimony and
documentary evidence simply does not establish Ford’s grossly negli-
gent conduct. The evidence failed to establish Ford’s indifference to
make material omissions from the entry documents. The evidence
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also failed to establish that Ford exhibited an utter lack of care. Ac-
cordingly, the Court concludes that Customs failed to carry its bur-
den to show that Ford’s violation of 19 U.S.C. § 1592 was a result of
grossly negligent conduct.

B. Customs Established Ford’s Negligence by a
Preponderance of the Evidence and Ford Failed to
Demonstrate it Exercised Reasonable Care

1. Statutory Background

Negligence arises out of ‘‘an act or acts (of commission or omission)
done through either the failure to exercise the degree of reasonable
care and competence expected from a person in the same circum-
stances in ascertaining the facts or in drawing inferences there-
from. . . .’’ 19 C.F.R. pt. 171, App. B(B)(1). Consequently, negligence
does not require the trier of fact to determine intent. Section
1592(e)(4) of Title 19 of the United States Code derogates from com-
mon law negligence (i.e., duty, breach, causation, and injury) by
shifting the burden of persuasion to the defendant to show lack of
negligence. See Hitachi I, 21 CIT at 380, 964 F. Supp. at 355. The
statute removes the breach element from Customs’ prima facie negli-
gence case. See id. Accordingly, Customs must establish by a prepon-
derance of the evidence that the materially false act or omission oc-
curred. See 19 U.S.C. § 1592(e)(3). Once Customs has met its
burden, Ford bears the burden to establish that it exercised reason-
able care under the circumstances and that the alleged violation was
not caused by its negligence. See 19 U.S.C. 1592(e)(3); 19 C.F.R. pt.
171, App. B; see also Hitachi I, 21 CIT at 381, 964 F. Supp. at
355–56.

Customs is directed to appraise imported merchandise based on
the transaction value. See 19 U.S.C. § 1401a(a)(1) (1988). The stat-
ute defines transaction value as ‘‘the price actually paid or payable
for the merchandise when sold for exportation to the United States,
plus amounts equal to . . . the value, apportioned as appropriate, of
any assist. . . .’’ 19 U.S.C. § 1401a(b)(1). Under 19 U.S.C. § 1481(a),
all invoices for imported merchandise are required to set forth, inter
alia, the purchase price of each item. See 19 U.S.C. § 1481(a)(5)
(1988). The statute also states that the invoices must contain any
facts required to properly appraise the merchandise. See 19 U.S.C.
§ 1481(a)(10). An importer must file at the time of entry appropriate
documentation enabling Customs to properly assess duties. See 19
U.S.C. § 1484(a)(1)(B); see also United States v. Thorson Chem.
Corp., 16 CIT 441, 448, 795 F. Supp. 1190, 1195 (1992) (noting that
defendant had a ‘‘legal obligation pursuant to the statute to file ap-
propriate documentation permitting Customs to properly assess du-
ties and determine whether any other applicable requirement of law
is met’’) (citation omitted). Furthermore, an importer making an en-
try must file a declaration under oath stating that ‘‘the prices set
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forth in the invoice are true, in the case of merchandise purchased or
agreed to be purchased . . . [and that] all other statements in the in-
voice or other documents filed with the entry, or in the entry itself,
are true and correct. . . .’’ 19 U.S.C. § 1485(a)(2) & (3). The importer
must also declare ‘‘[t]hat he will produce at once to the appropriate
customs officer any invoice, paper, letter, document, or information
received showing that any such prices or statements are not true or
correct.’’ 19 U.S.C. § 1485(a)(4).

2. Discussion

The Court finds that Customs established, by a preponderance of
the evidence, that Ford failed to exercise reasonable care expected
from a person in the same circumstances. See 19 C.F.R pt. 171, App.
B (C)(1). Testimonial and documentary evidence presented at trial
established that Ford had made assists between 1987 through 1992,
which it failed to declare on its entry documents or ‘‘at once’’ thereaf-
ter. See e.g., Pl.’s Ex. 23, 24, 25, 28, 29; see also TT at 493. Ford also
failed to declare on its entry documents that the values stated
therein were not final because Ford was obligated to make lump sum
payments to its vendors after entry. Furthermore, Ford failed to re-
port these lump sum payments ‘‘at once’’ pursuant to 19 U.S.C.
§ 1485 or the Reconciliation Agreement. See e.g., Pl.’s Ex. 12, 14, 15,
16, 17, 19, 30, 31, 33, 35, 36, 37; see also TT at 402–03; 435–36, 488.

a. Ford’s Failure to Declare Assists at Entry Violated
19 U.S.C. §§ 1484 & 1485

1. Customs Satisfied its Burden of Proof

The Court finds that Customs met its burden of proof and estab-
lished that Ford made materially false statements or omissions in its
entry documents related to tooling assists provided for certain ve-
hicles and vehicle components thereby violating 19 U.S.C. § 1484.
See Pl.’s Ex. 22, 23, 24, 25, 27, 28. Based on testimony and documen-
tary evidence, the Court finds that Ford’s omission of assists on the
entry documents had a material impact on Customs’ ability to prop-
erly determine the dutiable value of the relevant merchandise. See
Rockwell, 10 CIT at 42, 628 F. Supp. at 210. Based on uncon-
troverted evidence, the Court further concludes that Ford knew or
should have known that it had incurred expenses for assists prior to
importation, see TT at 493, but failed to report such assists as part of
the transaction value in its entry documents. See 22, 23, 24, 25, 27,
28.

Customs also established that Ford violated 19 U.S.C. § 1485 by
failing to advise Customs ‘‘at once’’ that it had provided such tooling
assists. Ford advised Customs, on several occasions, that it had
failed to capture additional duties and fees on its entry documents
relating to tooling assists provided by Ford. See Pl.’s Ex. 22, 23, 25,
27, 28. On one occasion, Ford indicated that it had failed to include
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tooling assists ‘‘from the dutiable values of the related parts because
of inadequate instructions to certain Ford foreign suppliers.’’ Pl.’s
Ex. 22. Ford, on a different occasion, indicated that it had failed to
include certain tooling assists in the dutiable values ‘‘because the
country of origin for some tool orders was not coded correctly in the
Ford payment records.’’ Pl.’s Ex. 27. Ford’s lack of reasonable care to
report the assists in the entry documents and invoices constitutes
materially false statements or omissions arising out of Ford’s negli-
gence. See 19 C.F.R. pt. 171, App. B(B)(1).

Moreover, the evidence established that Ford failed to ‘‘at once’’ no-
tify Customs that the entry values included assists. The documen-
tary evidence demonstrates that Ford advised Customs of the assists
well after entry. For example, in a letter dated April 6, 1993, Ford
advised Customs that it had provided $1,327,455 of value to the Es-
sex Plant free of charge for the 1990, 1991, and 1992 calendar years.
See Pl.’s Ex. 25. Ford’s disclosure of the assists came almost three
years after the first assists had been incurred. See id. Ford’s failure
to capture assists at entry or when they were incurred is unreason-
able and violated the plain language of 19 U.S.C. § 1485, which re-
quires an importer to report changes in value declared at enrty ‘‘at
once.’’

2. Ford Failed to Satisfy its Burden of Proof

Customs satisfied its burden of proof, thereby shifting the burden
to Ford to establish that it exercised reasonable care under the cir-
cumstances and that the violations were not the result of its negli-
gence. See 19 U.S.C. § 1592(e)(4). From all the evidence presented
on the reporting of assists by Ford, the Court concludes that Ford
failed to meet its burden. There was uncontroverted evidence that
Ford knew that assists ‘‘start to occur in Ford’s major programs
sometimes two, three years prior to the good actually being imported
into the United States.’’ TT at 493. Ford had a compliance program
in place to report assists. See TT at 421, 442, 493–94. If Ford learned
of additional assists after the first importation, then Ford would re-
port such assists to Customs in a subsequent reconciliation. See TT
at 494.

The evidence established, however, that Ford failed to follow its
own policies. Ford argues that ‘‘throughout the period at issue in this
action Ford had procedures in place that satisfied Customs’ report-
ing requirements which were ignored by the Customs Agents.’’ Def.’s
Post-Trial Br. at 23. There was documentary evidence presented at
trial that Ford reported to Customs its failure to initially capture as-
sists upon entry of the merchandise. See e.g., Pl.’s Ex. 22, 23, 24, 25.
Ford, however, did not establish that it exercised reasonable care to
report such assists which, in some cases, related to merchandise im-
ported over five years before Ford’s notification of Customs. See e.g.,
Pl.’s Ex. 28. Ford did not present corroborating evidence that it re-
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ported such assists in a timely fashion and therefore met the re-
quirement of 19 U.S.C. § 1485. Moreover, Ford failed to establish
through testimony or documentary evidence that its assist reporting
program, if followed, would have satisfied Ford’s statutory obliga-
tions with respect to making entries in accordance with law.

Ford asserts that ‘‘it was common practice for Customs to issue CF
28’s requesting information about assists and to accept the resulting
tenders without further action.’’ Def.’s Post-Trial Br. at 22. While
Customs may have used CF 28s to gather relevant information re-
garding assists, the burden to report such assists remains with the
importer. See 19 U.S.C. §§ 1401a(b)(1) & 1481(a)(5). Ford’s customs
compliance manual explains that the basis for Customs’ collection of
duty is the value of the entered merchandise, which includes assists
provided by Ford. See Joint Ex. 2. Nonetheless, Ford failed to advise
Customs at the time of entry that it had provided assists. See Pl.’s
Ex. 22, 23, 24, 25, 27, 28.

Ford was required to file a declaration under oath stating that the
prices set forth in the entry documents were true and correct. See 19
U.S.C. § 1485(a)(2) & (3). Ford, however, did not present the Court
with evidence that it provided Customs with true and accurate infor-
mation. See United States v. Nippon Miniature Bearings, Corp., 25
CIT 638, 641, 155 F. Supp. 2d 701, 705 (2001) (stating that ‘‘the bur-
den is on the importer to provide true and accurate information to
Customs; the burden is not on Customs to ‘find out’ non-complying
importers’’). Based on the evidence submitted, the Court finds that
Ford’s failure to report assists at the time of importation, in accor-
dance with 19 U.S.C. § 1484, had a material impact on Customs’
ability to properly determine the dutiable value of the relevant mer-
chandise. Furthermore, Ford failed to report changes in the entry
values ‘‘at once,’’ in accordance with 19 U.S.C. § 1485. Accordingly,
the Court holds that Ford’s failure to report assists in its entry docu-
ments or ‘‘at once’’ resulted from Ford’s negligent conduct. Ford,
therefore, violated 19 U.S.C. § 1592.

b. Ford’s Failure to Declare Lump Sum Payments

1. Ford’s Material Omissions Violated 19 U.S.C.
§ 1484 and was the Result of Ford’s Negligence

Customs met its burden of proof and established that Ford made
materially false statements or omissions in its entry documents re-
lating to lump sum payments it made in connection with certain
vehicles and vehicle components. The court in Hitachi held that ‘‘im-
porters are required to disclose escalation clauses in entry docu-
ments. . . .’’ Id. 21 CIT at 387–88, 964 F. Supp. at 360–61 (stating
that the importer’s omission on entry documents of escalation
clauses affecting price ‘‘had a potential impact on the correct duty
and thus perpetrated a material omission’’). In the case at bar, Ford
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presented no evidence that it disclosed escalation clauses on its en-
try documents in accordance with 19 U.S.C. § 1484.

The evidence demonstrated that Ford violated the statute by fail-
ing to notify Customs of potential post-entry lump sum payments.
Customs offered unrebutted evidence that Ford knew at the time of
importation that the cost of certain vehicles and vehicle components
were subject to change. See TT at 492 & 512. Ford had supply agree-
ments with many of its foreign vendors which contained post-
importation price adjustments. See Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 1.
These supply agreements were negotiated prior to the shipment of
the merchandise. See TT at 512. Under the terms of the supply
agreements, however, Ford did not know the amount of the pay-
ments required. See TT at 382. While Ford became aware of the
amount of these payments subsequent to the entry of the merchan-
dise, Ford failed to notify Customs on the entry documents that it
anticipated making lump sum payments. See e.g., Pl.’s Ex. 81 & 82.

The evidence established that Ford’s omissions deprived Customs
of information required to determine whether or not to extend
the statutory period for liquidation. See 19 C.F.R. § 159.2 (1992)
(stating that ‘‘[a]ll entries covering imported merchandise . . . shall
be liquidated’’). Under Customs’ regulations, ‘‘an entry [that is]
not liquidated within 1 year from the date of entry of the
merchandise . . . shall be deemed liquidated by operation of law at
the rate of duty, value, quantity, and amount of duties asserted at
the time of filing an entry summary for consumption in proper form
with estimated duties attached. . . .’’ 19 C.F.R. § 159.11. However,
Customs may extend liquidation for an additional period of time if
‘‘[i]nformation needed by Customs for the proper appraisement . . . is
not available.’’ 19 C.F.R. § 159.12. Accordingly, Ford’s omissions in
its entry documents impinged on Customs’ ability to properly assess
duties on the subject merchandise or to withhold liquidation until
the transaction values on the entry summaries became final. See 19
U.S.C. § 1484(a)(1)(B); see also Thorson, 16 CIT at 448, 795 F. Supp.
at 1196.

Although Customs established Ford’s material omissions from en-
try documents, Ford is afforded an opportunity to rebut Customs al-
legations by establishing that it exercised reasonable care. See 19
U.S.C. § 1592(e). The Court, however, concludes that Ford has failed
to meet its burden. There is no evidence before the Court that Ford
took action to notify Customs that the transaction values contained
in the entry documents were subject to change. Ford argues that it
was not required under the applicable law to disclose that the trans-
action values were subject to change due to post-entry price adjust-
ments. See Def.’s Post-Trial Br. at 17. Ford asserts that, pursuant to
19 U.S.C. § 1484(a)(1)(b), it was merely required to file documenta-
tion ‘‘necessary for the assessment of duties and collection of statis-
tics on the merchandise.’’ Id. Ford further argues that the Reconcili-
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ation Agreement placed Customs on notice that it would have post-
entry price adjustments. See id. at 19–20. Accordingly, Ford argues
that it met its statutory obligations or alternatively that it exercised
reasonable care under the circumstances.

The evidence presented and facts found by the Court demonstrate
that Ford failed to exercise reasonable care and, therefore, acted
with negligence. Ford failed to alert Customs that the values de-
clared at entry were not final values. See TT at 410 & 491, See e.g.,
Pl.’s Ex. 81 & 82. Furthermore, in letters Ford sent to Customs be-
tween August 1991 through December 1993, Ford repeatedly ad-
vised Customs that lump sum payments had not been declared on
the entry documents. See Pl.’s Ex. 8, 12, 14, 15, 17, 19, 20, 29, 30, 31,
32, 33, 35, 36, 37, 38, 42, 43. Ford also failed to indicate on the entry
documents that its transaction values were not final. See e.g., Pl.’s
Ex. 81 & 82. Ford may not shirk its statutory obligations under 19
U.S.C. § 1484 and place the blame for its failure to meet those obli-
gations with Customs. Ford did not offer evidence to suggest that its
failure to comply with the statute was not due to its failure to exer-
cise reasonable care. On the contrary, there was uncontroverted tes-
timony that Ford knew that the prices paid to its vendors for ve-
hicles and vehicle components were subject to change. See TT at 492.
While it was reasonable for Ford to enter the merchandise with the
transaction values known at the time of entry, the Court finds that
Ford’s failure to place Customs on notice that such values were not
final is unreasonable. If Ford had exercised reasonable care under
the circumstances, then Ford would have followed its own internal
procedures and alerted Customs at entry that the transaction values
were provisional. See Joint Ex. 2 at G.

The lump sum payments Ford made to its vendors after entry are
analogous to the escalation payments made by the importer in
Hitachi. While the importer in Hitachi escaped liability because a
Customs ruling clouded the importer’s duties, Ford has failed to es-
tablish that its duties were nebulous in the present case.5 With re-
spect to Ford’s argument that the Reconciliation Agreement placed
Customs on notice that its entry values were provisional, the Court
finds this contention, at best, tenuous. If Ford’s argument were to be
adopted, then every single entry Ford made would have been provi-
sional and not final. Furthermore, the Reconciliation Agreement did
not identify specific entries, if any, to which it applied. Consequently,

5 The court in Hitachi, determined that the importer could ‘‘not be held liable [for violat-
ing 19 U.S.C. §1484] because Customs confused the obligation by virtue of its own pub-
lished rulings.’’ Hitachi, 21 CIT at 388, 964 F. Supp at 361. Customs had issued a ruling in
which it stated that if an importer has an agreement whereby the price actually paid or
payable may change, than the importer should preferably advise Customs of such an agree-
ment at the time of entry. See id. The Court held that Customs’ ruling, in the absence of a
subsequent ruling, ‘‘clouded the existence and exigency of the requirement [to report escala-
tion clauses at entry], and a nebulous duty is a legal oxymoron.’’ Id.
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Customs would never know when to hold liquidation open or liqui-
date entries. Ford’s logic is inapposite to the plain language of the
statute because it would require Customs to guess which entry docu-
ments contain final transaction values and which entry values were
subject to change because of contract provisions Ford had with its
vendors. The statute encumbers the importer with the responsibility
of ensuring that information contained in entry documents is true
and correct. See 19 U.S.C. § 1485(a)(2) & (3). The statute required
Ford to put Customs on notice for each entry made. See id. It is un-
reasonable for Ford to have relied on the Reconciliation Agreement
to place Customs on notice for every entry Ford made.

Customs does not allege that Ford declared inaccurate values on
its entry documents. Rather, Customs alleges that Ford failed to ful-
fill its statutory obligations to place Customs on notice that such
prices were provisional. There was uncontroverted evidence that
Ford failed to place Customs on notice that the transaction values
set forth in the entry documents were subject to change, and, there-
fore, not final transaction values. See TT at 410 & 491; See e.g., Pl.’s
Ex. 81 & 82. Accordingly, the Court concludes that Ford’s omission of
material facts from its entry documents was a result of its negligent
conduct. The Court holds that 19 U.S.C. § 1484 required Ford to in-
dicate on the entry documents that transaction values were not final
because, under pre-existing contracts Ford had with its vendors, the
price actually paid or payable was subject to change. Accordingly, the
Court holds that Ford violated 19 U.S.C. § 1592.

2. Ford Violated 19 U.S.C. § 1485

The Court finds that the testimony and documents submitted at
trial established that Ford violated the ‘‘at once’’ requirement of 19
U.S.C. § 1485. As the court noted in Hitachi, an importer may es-
cape liability for failing to meet the requirements of 19 U.S.C.
§ 1485 by implementing one of two statutory mechanisms available.
See Hitachi, 21 CIT at 389, 964 F. Supp. at 361–62. An importer
‘‘may arrange to hold open liquidation under 19 U.S.C. § 1504(b),’’ or
‘‘deposit estimated duties’’ pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1505. Id. Under
19 U.S.C. § 1485, lump sum payments must be reported to Customs
at once unless other arrangements have been made.

Ford contends that, in order to prove that it acted with reasonable
care, Ford need only show that it met its ‘‘obligation to notify Cus-
toms after entry if it received information that entered prices had
changed.’’ Def.’s Post-Trial Br. at 19. Ford also argues that the Rec-
onciliation Agreement placed Customs on notice, thereby satisfied
the requirements of advance timely notice set forth in Hitachi. See
id. Ford maintains that it had created procedures to tender duties
after post-entry payments were made. See id. Lastly, Ford asserts
that it consistently filed reconciliations with Customs and that its
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‘‘program was more proactive than the type of post entry notice to
Customs than the Hitachi court contemplated.’’ Id. at 20.

The evidence established that the Reconciliation Agreement con-
stitutes an arrangement between Customs and Ford, which modified
Ford’s duty under 19 U.S.C. § 1485. Pursuant to the arrangement,
Ford was allowed to report lump sum payments made after entry in
an annual reconciliation report to Customs. See Pl.’s Ex. 55. Ford
proposed the Reconciliation Agreement to capture and report to Cus-
toms lump sum payments made after vehicles and vehicle compo-
nents had been entered. See id. Under the plain language of the Rec-
onciliation Agreement, Ford was required to submit such reports
within 60 days after the close of each model year, July 30. See Pl.’s
Ex. 55 (stating that ‘‘[a]n annual reconciliation report will be pre-
pared for each import program and filed with the Detroit customs’’).
Mr. Kruzich, the Ford employee who proposed the 60-day time
frame, chose the time frame because he ‘‘thought it was reasonable
at the time.’’ Joint Ex. 2 at 114.

Ford did not rebut with credible evidence the specific language of
the agreement which set the 60-day time-frame as a fixed deadline.
Ford presented several witnesses that indicated that they believed
the 60-day time-frame was a target date rather than a fixed dead-
line. See Joint Ex. 2 at 114–15; TT at 541. Based on the witnesses
demeanor and inability to independently recollect events and facts,
the Court finds their testimony incredible. Moreover, the testimony
of these witnesses is directly controverted by the plain language of
the Reconciliation Agreement, which states that reconciliation re-
ports were to be filed ‘‘within 60 days after the close of each model
year (July 30). . . .’’ Pl.’s Ex. 55. Furthermore, there was no evidence
presented by Ford of any other agreement modifying the Reconcilia-
tion Agreement. Customs’ response to Ford’s proposal for the Recon-
ciliation Agreement did not modify the proposed time-frame. See Pl.’s
Ex. 55. The testimony and documentary evidence established that
the 60-day time frame was a deadline and not a ‘‘target’’ date. The
evidence demonstrated that the Reconciliation Agreement absolved
Ford from liability of reporting changes in value ‘‘at once’’, if Ford re-
ported such changes before the 60-day deadline. The agreement,
however, did not absolve Ford from liability for submissions made af-
ter the 60-day deadline had lapsed.

Customs established that Ford failed to meet the requirements of
19 U.S.C. § 1485 or the Reconciliation Agreement. Except for one of
the duty tenders at issue, Ford failed to submit its reconciliation re-
ports to Customs within the 60-day deadline. See e.g. Pl’s. Ex. 12, 14,
15, 17, 19, 20, 29, 30, 33, 35. Ford’s failure to timely file the reconcili-
ation reports was in direct contravention to the plain text of the Rec-
onciliation Agreement. In failing to meet the deadline, Ford waived
its immunity from liability for violating the ‘‘at once’’ provision of 19
U.S.C. § 1485. Moreover, the evidence established that Ford failed
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to exercise reasonable care to comply with the terms of the Reconcili-
ation Agreement or 19 U.S.C. § 1485.

Although Ford may have escaped liability if it had submitted its
reconciliation reports within the 60-day deadline, Ford failed to com-
ply with the explicit terms of the agreement and consistently filed
reconciliation reports well after the 60-day deadline. See e.g., Pl.’s
Ex. 12, 14, 15, 17, 19, 20, 29, 30, 33, 35. The reconciliation process
‘‘could take anywhere from a few months to six months to eight
months.’’ TT at 391. Ford, however, only began the reconciliation
process at the end of the model year. See TT at 387–88. The testi-
mony of Ms. Monro, the Ford employee responsible for creating the
bulk of the reconciliation reports at issue, see TT at 381, established
that Ford knew or should have known that the reconciliation process
could not be completed within the 60 days after the model year. Ford
failed to present evidence that it notified Customs that its reconcilia-
tion reports would not be submitted before the 60-day deadline
lapsed. Ford also did not seek permission from Customs to extend
the 60-day deadline. See TT at 344; Joint Ex. 2 at 117. Furthermore,
in compiling the reconciliation reports, Ford did not contemplate re-
porting any expenses paid after the model year closed until the fol-
lowing year’s reconciliation report. See TT at 386, 402–03, 435–36.
Ford’s lack of reasonable care is further illustrated by its inability to
accurately capture all lump sum payments in the untimely reconcili-
ation reports. On several occasions Ford advised Customs that it had
failed to capture ceratin lump sum payments in the reconciliation re-
ports it had already submitted. See e.g., Pl.s’ Ex. 19 & 34. Ford also
submitted letters to Customs which it labeled ‘‘prior disclosures’’ to
advise Customs that it had failed to report lump sum payments
made after entry. See e.g., Pl.s’ Ex. 33 & 34. Ford’s failure to begin
the reconciliation process before the model year ended, even though
it knew that it was a lengthy process, and its failure to notify Cus-
toms that the reconciliation reports would be submitted after the
deadline demonstrated Ford’s lack of reasonable care.

The evidence presented at trial established that Ford had an
agreement with Customs to submit reconciliation reports within 60
days after the model year closed. Ford argues that it understood the
deadline of the Reconciliation Agreement to be a target date. See
Def.’s Post-Trial Br. at 20–21. Ford, however, failed to present per-
suasive evidence to support its claim. Ford violated the Reconcilia-
tion Agreement and filed its reconciliation reports after the Recon-
ciliation Agreement deadline. In some instances Ford disclosed such
information a year or more after the close of the model year. See e.g.,
15, 20, 32, 36, 38. Ford failed to produce any evidence that a reason-
able person acting with reasonable care would have understood the
agreement to mean anything other than imposing a 60-day deadline.
Moreover, Ford did not present evidence that it took reasonable mea-
sures to meet the deadline. Based on the testimony and documen-
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tary evidence, the Court concludes that Ford violated the terms of
the Reconciliation Agreement and the ‘‘at once’’ requirement 19
U.S.C. § 1485 because it failed to exercise reasonable care.

C. Ford Failed to Make Prior Disclosures of its Violations

The maximum penalty an importer may be assessed is signifi-
cantly reduced if the importer discloses facts and circumstance relat-
ing to a violation. See 19 U.S.C. § 1592(c)(4). To make a prior disclo-
sure, the person concerned must disclose the circumstances of a
violation before, or without knowledge of, the commencement of a
formal investigation and make a tender of any actual loss of duties.6

See id.; 19 C.F.R. § 162.74(a) (1992). A formal investigation is con-
sidered to be commenced on the earliest of the following: (1) the date
recorded in writing in the investigatory record as the date the inves-
tigating agent believed the possibility of a violation existed; (2) the
date an investigating agent inquired, in writing or in person, about
the disclosed violation; or (3) the date an investigating agent re-
quested specific books and records relating to the disclosed violation.
See 19 C.F.R. § 162.74(d)(4). Furthermore, if before the claimed
prior disclosure a person is informed of ‘‘the type of circumstances of
the disclosed violation,’’ then she is ‘‘presumed to have had knowl-
edge of the commencement of a formal investigation.’’ 19 C.F.R.
§ 162.74(f). This presumption, however, may be defeated with evi-
dence that the person did not know an investigation had commenced
with respect to the disclosed information. See id.

Ford contends that the maximum penalty that may be assessed is
limited because Ford’s disclosures and duty tenders relating to lump
sum payments constituted valid prior disclosures. See Def.’s Post-
Trial Br. at 23–26. Ford asserts that the documents describing Cus-
toms’ Operation Hat Trick limit the scope of the investigation to as-
sists and indirect payments. See id. at 24. Customs’ regulations
define the terms ‘‘assists’’ and ‘‘indirect payments’’ and, therefore,
the terms used to describe the investigation are precise and unam-
biguous. See id. Ford maintains that, at the June 1991 Meeting, Mr.
Gibson asked for a definition of the term ‘‘indirect payments’’ and he
was simply presented with two summonses from Mr. Turner. See id.
Consequently, Ford argues that it ‘‘relied on Customs published
regulation to define the terms’’ and, therefore, the scope of Customs’
investigation. Id. at 25. Ford further contends that the summonses
did not expand the scope of the investigation beyond the description
set forth in Customs’ May 23, 1991, notification letter. See id. Ford

6 A violator ‘‘discloses the circumstances of a violation’’ by providing Customs with a writ-
ten statement which: (1) identifies the class or kind of merchandise involved; (2) identifies
the entry included in the disclosure; (3) specifies the material omission or false statement
made at entry; and (4) sets forth the true and accurate information or data which should
have been provided in the original entry documents. See 19 C.F.R. § 162.71(e).
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also argues that the submission and tenders it filed between 1991
through 1993 were outside the scope of the investigation. Ford as-
serts that the payments Ford made directly to its vendors did not
constitute either assists or indirect payments and are consequently
outside the scope of the investigation.

The evidence established, however, that the assists and indirect
payments Ford made in connection with the entries at issue were
within the scope of Customs’ Operation Hat Trick investigation. See
TT at 37–39, 47–48, 283–84, 511–12; Pl.’s Ex. 70 & 71. Operation
Hat Trick was initiated by Mr. Turner, based on personal observa-
tions, and information from import specialists indicating that Ford
and other car manufacturers were not declaring the full value, or
price paid or to be paid, for merchandise entered into the United
States. See TT at 37–38, 283. The evidence established that Opera-
tion Hat Trick ‘‘included all the components surrounding value, ma-
terial omissions, undervaluations, payments that may not have been
reflected on the invoice that was submitted with the entry sum-
mary. . . .’’ TT at 283; see also TT 37–38. Ford requested the June
1991 Meeting because neither Mr. Gibson nor Mr. Cohen knew what
Customs meant by an indirect payment in its May 23, 1991, notifica-
tion letter. See TT at 496–97; see also TT at 45–46. Ford did not
‘‘make indirect payments in terms of the general definition that
[Ford] knew; that is, a payment to A, A makes a payment to B for the
benefit of C. That is what we thought was an indirect payment, and
Ford did not do that.’’ TT at 498; see also TT at 508.

The testimony and documentary evidence demonstrated that Cus-
toms explained to Ford the scope of its investigation. Customs noti-
fied Ford that ‘‘the investigation was going to look at the full scope of
their imports of automobiles and automobile parts; that [Customs]
would be looking programatically one program at a time.’’ TT at 47;
see also TT at 51–52; Pl.’s Ex. 71. Ford was advised at the June 1991
Meeting that Customs’ investigation included the entire scope of
Ford’s importation of certain vehicles and vehicle components. See
TT at 286–88; Pl.’s Ex. 71. Ford knew or should have known that the
term ‘‘indirect payment,’’ as used by Customs in its notification to
Ford of the investigation, included all payments that impacted the
final price paid for the merchandise in question. See TT at 511–12.
Based on the evidence, the Court concludes that the payments Ford
made directly to its vendors between 1987 through 1992 constitute
either assists or indirect payments and, therefore, were within the
scope of the Operation Hat Trick investigation.

Moreover, the evidence established that Customs began its investi-
gation of Ford on or before May 23, 1991. See Pl.’s Ex. 70. Ford was
notified of Customs’ investigation by letter dated May 23, 1991. See
Pl.’s Ex. 5. Ford’s request of a meeting with Customs to discuss the
notification letter illustrates Ford’s knowledge of Customs’ investiga-
tion. See 19 C.F.R. § 162.74(f). Accordingly, to make a valid prior dis-
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closure, Ford would have had to disclose the circumstances of its vio-
lations and make tenders of any actual loss of duties before May 23,
1991, the date Customs notified Ford, in writing, of the nature of its
investigation. See 19 C.F.R. § 162.74(a) & (d)(4). Ford failed to
present any evidence that it made such disclosures prior to this date.
Rather, Ford’s letters advising Customs of its violations all came af-
ter the May 23, 1991, notification letter. See e.g., Pl.’s 8, 12, 14, 15,
16, 17, 19, 20, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 42, 43. The Court
concludes that Ford failed to meet its burden of establishing that it
lacked knowledge of Customs’ investigation prior to or at the time
Ford made its disclosures. See 19 U.S.C. § 1592(c)(4). The evidence
established that Ford knew of Customs’ investigation and that the
scope of such investigation covered the entries for which Ford ten-
dered undeclared duties after the investigation was commenced.

D. Ford’s Payments Relating to the Festiva

In 1988, Ford and Mazda Motor Corporation (‘‘Mazda’’), a Japa-
nese corporation, executed a Passenger Vehicle Program Agreement
(‘‘Festiva Agreement’’) pursuant to which Ford agreed to purchase
Festiva vehicles from Mazda for importation to the United States.
See Pl.’s Ex. 58. Ford argues that the Festiva Agreement established
a minimum annual volume commitment of 85,000 and that Ford’s
failure to purchase such an amount of Festivas would result in a
shortfall penalty. See Def.’s Post-Trial Br. at 28–29. Ford asserts that
the ‘‘shortfall penalty provisions were distinct in both form and sub-
stance from any other price adjustment.’’ Id. at 28. Ford argues that
the case at bar is indistinguishable from Chrysler Corp. v. United
States, 17 CIT 1049 (1993), where production shortfall payments
were held to be non-dutiable. See Def.’s Post-Trial Br. at 29. Ford
maintains that the shortfall payments were booked to different ac-
counts, which were different from the purchased vehicles accounts
and, therefore, not part of the price for imported vehicles. See id. Ad-
ditionally, the shortfall payments were calculated after the close of
the period specified in the agreement and were made in lump sum.
See id. Similar to the agreement at issue in Chrysler, under the
Festiva Agreement, Ford would have had to pay a substantial pen-
alty if it did not purchase any vehicles. See id. Ford argues that be-
cause no duties were due on Ford’s shortfall payments, Ford is en-
titled to recoup the duty tendered for lump sum payments made
pursuant to the Festiva Agreement. See id. at 31. Ford argues that it
should receive the amount of duties it paid on such lump sum pay-
ments as a credit to offset any potential penalties that may be as-
sessed. See id.

Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 152.103(a)(1) (1992), the method of deriv-
ing the price actually paid or payable will not be considered in deter-
mining the transaction value. Rather, the regulation instructs that
the price actually paid or payable may be ‘‘the result of discounts, in-
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creases, or negotiations, or may be arrived at by the application of a
formula.’’ Accordingly, a payment that represents something other
than the per se value of the good may be properly included in the
transaction value. See Chrysler, 17 CIT at 1054 (citation omitted).
The Court must determine whether the payment by the buyer to the
seller was in exchange for merchandise sold for export. See id. If the
payment was not in exchange for merchandise, then such payment
constitutes a penalty which may not be included in transaction
value. See id. at 1054–55.

In Chrysler, the agreement did not contain a formula for changing
the base price depending upon the number of vehicles purchased.
See id. Rather, the court in Chrysler held that the terms of the agree-
ment at issue obligated the importer to pay a penalty for each engine
that it did not purchase. See id. Such penalty payments were not
part of the transaction value because nothing was received in ex-
change for the penalty payments. See id. The court, in VWP of Am.,
Inc. v. United States, 25 CIT 1056, 163 F. Supp. 2d 645 (2001), noted
that ‘‘[c]onceptually, the economic ‘value’ of merchandise in its state
as imported would include all matters which accrue in advance and
are incidental to placing it into the international stream of com-
merce.’’ Id. at 1063, 163 F. Supp. 2d at 653. The court observed that
the shortfall payments at issue in Chrysler were non-dutiable be-
cause they were triggered by non-performance on a contract, rather
than importation. See id.

The Court finds that contrary to Ford’s contention, the Festiva
Agreement is not similar to the agreement in Chrysler and therefore,
the lump sum payments made by Ford pursuant to the Festiva
Agreement are dutiable. The Festiva Agreement established various
mechanisms for adjusting the initial purchase price of Festivas. De-
pending on the adjustments, Ford was either obligated to make addi-
tional payments to, or be entitled to receive payments from, Mazda.
Under the agreement, Ford was either obligated to make payments
pursuant to market basket criteria provisions (sections 3.3 and 3.4 of
the Festiva Agreement) or the annual volume commitment and vol-
ume price adjustment provisions (sections 2.1 and 2.3 of the Festiva
Agreement, respectively). See Pl.’s Ex. 58. Under section 3.3, Ford
agreed to purchase Festivas for a specified base price per vehicle, ac-
cording to an initial pricing schedule described in the agreement. See
id. In an effort to keep the purchase price of the imported vehicles
competitive within the United States and Canadian markets, how-
ever, the parties agreed to adjust the initial purchase price on a
semi-annual basis pursuant to the terms of section 3.4. See id. Sec-
tion 3.4 incorporates a formula that compares the imported automo-
biles to similar automobiles competing in the same market to derive
price adjustments for the imported automobiles. See id. Those price
adjustments would be reconciled on a semi-annual basis, and any
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difference between the preliminary purchase price would be paid in
a lump sum. See id.

Pursuant to section 2.1 of the Festiva Agreement, Ford was obli-
gated to purchase 85,000 Festivas in a model year. See Pl.’s Ex. 58.
Section 2.3 specifies formulas for determining an ‘‘Adjusted Pur-
chase Price’’ in the event that Ford’s purchase of Festivas exceeded
or fell short of the annual volume commitment. See id. Under Sec-
tion 2.3A, if the number of orders for Festivas was between 50 and
90 percent of 85,000 vehicles, then the purchase price for each ve-
hicle would increase. See id. If the number of orders was less than 50
percent of 85,000 vehicles, then the parties were obligated to engage
in good faith discussions and either (1) the purchase price would in-
crease, or (2) the parties would renegotiate the terms of the contract
to the extent possible, or terminate the agreement. See id. Finally, if
Ford’s bought more than 93,500 vehicles, then the purchase price
per vehicle would decrease. See id.

The evidence demonstrated that, based on the number of vehicles
purchased, the purchase price for each vehicle changed according to
the formulas set forth in the Festiva Agreement. See Pl.’s Ex. 58; see
also TT at 77–79. In contrast to the penalty payments in Chrysler,
Ford’s payments under the Festiva Agreement were not triggered by
or based on a purchase commitment or quota. See id. Rather, the
purchase price or transaction value of each vehicle was adjusted de-
pending on changing market conditions. The Court notes that the
Festiva Agreement’s cancellation clause provided for the recovery of
fixed costs by Mazda if Ford failed to perform. See Pl.’s Ex. 58. In
contrast, the agreement in Chrysler required the importer to pay a
penalty for each engine it did not purchase so that the producer
could recoup fixed costs expended. See Chrysler, 25 CIT at 1054–55.
Consequently, the lump sum payments Ford made in connection
with the Festiva did not constitute a penalty. Rather, these pay-
ments were related to the price actually paid or payable and, there-
fore, were dutiable. Consequently, Ford’s request for a credit for
overpaid duties is not warranted because Ford owed Customs the
duties it tendered.

E. Customs Failed to Prove $68,178 For Duties Remains
Unpaid

Ford asserts that Customs’ demand for duties in the amount of
$68,178 with respect to undeclared development costs for the
Yamaha 3.2 liter SHO engines should be dismissed. See Def.’s Post-
Trial Br. at 30. Ford contends that Customs did not satisfy its bur-
den of proof because it presented ‘‘no evidence to explain to what the
amount alleged in the Complaint relates, how the amount was calcu-
lated, or evidence showing that Customs made a demand for pay-
ment prior to this action.’’ Id. Alternatively, Ford argues that Cus-
toms’ demand for $68,178 was not the subject of any pre-penalty or
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penalty notice. See id. Therefore, Ford was prevented from exhaust-
ing its administrative remedies. See id. Ford also asserts that Cus-
toms did not follow its own administrative procedures, as illustrated
by Customs failure to make a proper demand pursuant to 19 C.F.R.
§ 162.79b. See id. Consequently, Ford argues that the Court lacks
jurisdiction over this claim. See id.

Customs asserts, however, that Ford failed to produce evidence es-
tablishing that Ford’s waiver of the statute of limitations related to
Yamaha SHO engines did not encompass development costs for non-
imported prototype engines. See Customs’ Post-Trial Br. at 31. Cus-
toms asserts that the statute of limitations is an affirmative defense
to an action seeking unpaid duties and penalties and, therefore, may
be waived. See id. Moreover, Customs argues that Ford bears the
burden of proof concerning the application of the statute of limita-
tions defense because it raised the affirmative defense. See id. Ford,
however, did not prove that the general waiver included the duty
claim for $68,178. In addition, Customs maintains that 19 U.S.C.
§ 1592 does not require that the duty claim be addressed in an ad-
ministrative proceeding. See id. at n.21. Accordingly, Customs ar-
gues that it is entitled to $68,178 for unpaid duties related to devel-
opment costs for the Yamaha 3.2 liter SHO engine.

The Court agrees with Ford that Customs failed to present evi-
dence to satisfy its burden of proof with respect to its demand for
$68,178 for unpaid duties. Pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1592(d), Cus-
toms, may collect any lawful duties owed resulting from a 19 U.S.C.
§ 1592(a) violation notwithstanding 19 U.S.C. § 1514 (finality of liq-
uidations) whether or not a monetary penalty is assessed. See 19
U.S.C. § 1592(d). In the present matter, however, Customs failed to
present any evidence at trial to support its claim that Ford deprived
Customs of $68,178 in unpaid duties and fees related to developmen-
tal costs for the 3.2 liter SHO engines. The only evidence Customs
presented was ROI #27, which is a penalty case referral to the dis-
trict director. See Pl.’s Ex. 59. As aforementioned, the Court does not
place great weight in the veracity of this document because it was
created in contemplation of penalty proceedings against Ford. Addi-
tionally, Customs failed to introduce into evidence the pre-penalty or
penalty notices.

Customs failed to present any corroborating evidence suggesting
that Ford failed to tender correct duties. Accordingly, the only evi-
dence the Court has before it to evaluate the validity of the claim is
the complaint itself. Without supporting evidence moved and admit-
ted into evidence during trial, there is insufficient evidence demon-
strating that Customs was deprived of duties. Accordingly, the Court
concludes that Customs has failed to carry its burden of proof and,
therefore, Customs request for $68,178 for unpaid duties and fees is
denied.

134 CUSTOMS BULLETIN AND DECISIONS, VOL. 39, NO. 33, AUGUST 10, 2005



F. Assessment of Penalties

For negligent violations of 19 U.S.C. § 1592(a), the maximum
penalty is the lesser of the domestic value of the merchandise or
twice the loss of duties. See 19 U.S.C. § 1592(c)(3); 19 C.F.R.
§ 162.73(a)(3). The plain language of the statute only sets maximum
penalties and does not establish minimum penalties. See 19 U.S.C.
§ 1592(c)(3). Moreover, the statute does not require the court to be-
gin with the maximum possible penalty and reduce that amount in
light of mitigating factors. See United States v. Modes, Inc., 17 CIT
627, 635, 826 F. Supp. 504, 512 (1993). The Court has discretion to
impose a penalty within the maximum established by the statute. A
number of factors, however, may be considered in assessing a pen-
alty. See id. at 636, 826 F. Supp. at 513; United States v. Complex
Mach. Works Co., 23 CIT 942, 949–50, 83 F. Supp. 2d 1307, 1315
(1999). These factors are:

1. The defendant’s good faith effort to comply with the statute.
2. The defendant’s degree of culpability.
3. The defendant’s history of previous violations.
4. The nature of the public interest in ensuring compliance with

the regulations involved.
5. The nature and circumstances of the violation at issue.
6. The gravity of the violation.
7. The defendant’s ability to pay.
8. The appropriateness of the size of the penalty to the defen-

dant’s business and the effect of a penalty on the defendant’s
ability to continue doing business.

9. That the penalty not otherwise be shocking to the conscience
of the Court.

10. The economic benefit gained by the defendant through the vio-
lation.

11. The degree of harm to the public.
12. The value of vindicating the agency authority.
13. Whether the party sought to be protected by the statute had

been adequately compensated for the harm.
14. And such other matters as justice may require.

See Complex Mach., 23 CIT at 949–50, 83 F. Supp. 2d 1315 (citations
omitted). The first ten factors relate to deterring future violations,
which was Congress’ primary focus when it enacted 19 U.S.C.
§ 1592. See id. at 950, 83 F. Supp. 2d at 1316. Consequently, in de-
termining the size of the penalty, these ten factors are accorded
greater weight. See id.

Pursuant 19 U.S.C. § 1592(c)(3), the maximum penalty that can
be assessed against Ford for negligence is $17,151,923.60, twice the
loss of revenue, $8,575,961.80, to the United States established by
Customs. In Count II of its complaint, Customs claims that the loss
of revenue to the United States was $8,644,139.80, of which $68,178
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remains unpaid. See Compl. Based on its alleged loss of revenue,
Customs seeks a penalty of $17,288,279. See id. The Court, however,
concludes that Customs failed to meets its burden and establish that
Ford owes $68,178 for unpaid duties. Accordingly, the Court finds
that the actual loss of revenue to the United States was
$8,575,961.80.

Ford argues that any penalty assessed should be mitigated be-
cause there is significant evidence demonstrating Ford’s consistent
efforts to comply with its statutory obligations. See Def.’s Post-Trial
Br. at 32. Ford asserts that it made consistent efforts to fully and
properly account for its transactions. See id. Ford maintains that
Customs ‘‘was fully aware of [Ford’s] reconciliations and never told
Ford of any deficiency in its filings.’’ Id. Finally, Ford asserts that the
interests of justice require the Court to assess a relatively lenient
penalty because Ford did not gain anything from its failure to abide
by the deadline set forth in the Reconciliation Agreement. See id. at
33.

After carefully considering the mitigating factors set forth in Com-
plex Machine and the evidence presented at trial, the Court has de-
termined that the penalty assessed must be a substantial one. The
evidence before the Court established, by a preponderance, Ford’s
failure to comply with 19 U.S.C. §§ 1481, 1484, 1485 and 1592. The
Court takes into account, inter alia, the degree of harm to Customs,
the duration of Ford’s violations, and whether Ford made a good
faith effort to fulfill its statutory obligations. There was overwhelm-
ing evidence presented that Ford failed to declare the correct trans-
action value at entry for more than $350 million of merchandise en-
tered between 1987 through 1992. See Pl.’s Ex. 8, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17,
19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37,
38, 42, 43, 57. In an effort to comply with 19 U.S.C. § 1485, the evi-
dence showed that Ford failed to make a good faith effort to meet its
obligations pursuant to the Reconciliation Agreement. The majority
of reconciliation reports submitted in connection with the entries at
issue were well after the 60-day deadline imposed by the Reconcilia-
tion Agreement. Furthermore, the evidence demonstrated that Ford
on several occasions had to file additional reconciliation reports be-
cause it had failed to adequately capture certain lump sum pay-
ments in its previous submissions. Customs established by a prepon-
derance of the evidence that Ford failed to declare assists and lump
sum payments made between 1987 through 1992 because of Ford’s
failure to exercise reasonable care. Ford’s failure to properly declare
such payments over the course of five years further illustrates Ford’s
lack of good effort to correct its violations.

The evidence also established that Ford failed to exercise reason-
able care in carrying out its own customs compliance measure. The
manual instructed Ford employees to place a ‘‘provisional’’ dis-
claimer on invoices when the value of the merchandise is not com-
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pletely or correctly shown. See Joint Ex. 2. The evidence established
that Ford employees did not follow the compliance manual. The
transaction values for the entries at issue were not known at the
time of entry because Ford had supply agreements with its vendors
subjecting the prices of the merchandise to further adjustments. See
Pretrial Order, Schedule C ¶ 1. Ford, however, did not present any
evidence that a ‘‘provisional’’ disclaimer was placed on any of the in-
voices relating to the merchandise at issue. The Court concludes
that Ford’s inexplicable failure to follow its own compliance mea-
sures and its statutory obligations was the result of Ford’s negli-
gence.

The Court, after weighing the evidence and the various mitigating
factors, concludes that Ford’s penalty does not warrant mitigation.
The severity of Ford’s culpability and the resulting violation of its
statutory obligations were substantial. The significant public inter-
est in the enforcement of Customs’ regulations also weigh in favor of
the imposition of a heavy penalty. See Complex Mach., 23 CIT at 952,
83 F. Supp. 2d at 1317. Here, the evidence established by a prepon-
derance that Ford’s negligent conduct led to its failure to meet its
statutorily mandated obligations. Consequently, the Court assesses
the statutory maximum penalty for negligence pursuant to 19 U.S.C.
§ 1592(c)(3). Ford is assessed a penalty of $17,151,923.60.

CONCLUSION

Ford negligently violated 19 U.S.C. §§ 1481, 1484, 1485 and 1592
by failing to advise Customs that the transaction values in the entry
documents were not final. Ford violated 19 U.S.C. § 1485 by failing
to adhere to the requirements of the Reconciliation Agreement of re-
porting lump sum payments. Pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1592, the
Court grants judgment for plaintiff and assess a civil penalty against
defendant in the amount of $17,151,923.60, plus interest from the
date of judgment. Plaintiff ’s request for $68,178 for unpaid duties is
denied. Defendant’s counterclaim for a credit for duty tenders made
with respect to lump sum payments for the Festiva is also dismissed.
Judgment shall be entered accordingly.
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Slip Op. 05–88

BEFORE: SENIOR JUDGE NICHOLAS TSOUCALAS

WARNER-LAMBERT COMPANY, Plaintiff, v. UNITED STATES, Defendant.

Court No. 02–00254

JUDGMENT

This matter comes before the Court pursuant to the decision of the
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit (‘‘CAFC’’) in Warner-
Lambert Co. v. United States (‘‘Warner II’’), 407 F.3d 1207 (Fed. Cir.
2005), and the CAFC mandate dated July 5, 2005, reversing and re-
manding the judgment of the Court in Warner-Lambert Co. v. United
States (‘‘Warner I’’), 28 CIT , 343 F. Supp. 2d 1315 (2004).

Heading 3306 of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the United
States (‘‘HTSUS’’) provides for ‘‘Preparations for oral or dental hy-
giene. . . .’’ Id. at 1319. The Court considered evidence submitted at
trial, including a monograph entitled ‘‘Oral Health Care Drug Prod-
ucts for Over-the-Counter Human Use; Establishment of a Mono-
graph,’’ 47 Fed. Reg. 22,760 (May 25, 1982), published by the Food
and Drug Administration (‘‘FDA’’), and consulted different defini-
tions for ‘‘preparations’’ and ‘‘hygiene’’ from medical and general dic-
tionaries. See Warner I, 28 CIT at , 343 F. Supp. 2d at 1319–21.
Based on testimony and the evidence presented at trial, the Court
determined that the ‘‘term ‘oral’ pertains to the mouth and ‘hygiene’
relates to the preservation of health.’’1 Id. at , 343 F. Supp. 2d at
1320. Accordingly, the Court held that the terms ‘‘Preparations for
oral or dental hygiene’’ of HTSUS Heading 3306 includes ‘‘medicines
made ready for the practice of preserving the health of the mouth or
oral cavity.’’ Id. The Court stated that ‘‘a finding that the subject
merchandise preserves the health of the oral cavity simply because
it perfumes the mouth . . . would be anomalous to the FDA’s conclu-
sion that to be considered a preparation for oral hygiene, a product
must treat or prevent disease.’’ Id. at , 343 F. Supp. 2d at 1321.
Consequently, the Court held that the subject merchandise was clas-
sifiable under HTSUS 2106.90.99, as a food preparation not else-
where specified or included, dutiable at a rate of 6.4 percent ad valo-
rem. See id. at , 343 F. Supp. 2d at 1321–22.

Citing the Explanatory Notes to Chapter 33 of the HTSUS and the
examples in Heading 3306, the CAFC, however, determined that
‘‘hygiene’’ does not require antimicrobial action. See Warner II, 407

1 In its opinion, the CAFC stated that ‘‘the trial court concluded that, because ‘hygiene’
‘related to the presence of health,’ preparations for oral hygiene are ‘medicines made ready
for the practice of preserving the health of the mouth or oral cavity.’ ’’ Warner II, 407 F.3d at
1210 (emphasis added).
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F.3d at 1210. The CAFC stated that the sources consulted by this
Court did not connect ‘‘health’’ with ‘‘hygiene’’ and that ‘‘[h]ygiene
might lead to ‘health’-but it is not ‘health’ itself.’’ Id. The CAFC de-
termined that the Explanatory Notes to Heading 3306 ‘‘expressly en-
compass ‘oral perfumes’ within the heading.’’ Id. The CAFC further
determined that the Bureau of Customs and Border Protection of the
Department of Homeland Security’s (‘‘Customs’’) Headquarters Rul-
ing Letter 963764, dated January 11, 2002, and the proposed classi-
fication under HTSUS 2106.90.99 ‘‘overlooked some characteristics
of the imports and read the term ‘hygiene’ too narrowly to remain
consistent with the Explanatory Notes.’’ Id. at 1210–11. The CAFC
held that Warner-Lambert Company’s Certs® Powerful Mints are
classifiable under Heading 33.06 of the HTSUS. Accordingly, pursu-
ant to said decision and mandate by the CAFC, it is hereby

ORDERED that this Court’s Opinion and Judgment in Warner I,
holding that the subject merchandise should be classified and
reliquidated under 2106.90.99 of the HTSUS, are vacated; and it is
further

ORDERED that the subject merchandise shall be classified and
reliquidated by Customs under 3306.90.00 of the HTSUS, in accor-
dance with the CAFC’s decision and mandate; and it is further

ORDERED that upon reliquidation, Customs shall refund all ex-
cess duties with interest as provided by law.

�

Slip Op. 05–89

UNITED STATES SHOE CORP., Plaintiff, v. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Defendant.

Before: Jane A. Restani, Chief Judge
Court No. 94–11–00668

ORDER

Defendant United States moves for an order establishing a proce-
dure for the final disposition of all pending Harbor Maintenance Tax
(HMT) cases. In defendant’s view, all HMT issues have been resolved
and all HMT claims have been paid pursuant to United States v.
United States Shoe Corp., 523 U.S. 360 (1998) or Swisher Int’l Inc. v.
United States, 205 F.3d 1358 (Fed. Cir. 2000), cert. denied, 531 U.S.
1036 (2000). Accordingly, defendant maintains that all HMT cases
remaining on the Court’s docket should be dismissed. Plaintiff op-
poses this motion. In particular, plaintiff requests that the defendant
provide the court with a confidential report listing the paid and un-
paid HMT payments in the database maintained by the Bureau of
Customs and Border Protection; that, prior to dismissal of any case,
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defendant be ordered to refund all export HMT payments not previ-
ously refunded; and that there be an additional 60-day notice period
regarding defendant’s motion prior to the court acting on that mo-
tion.

Upon consideration of the arguments of the parties, it is hereby
ORDERED that all HMT actions pending after December 1, 2005

be dismissed by the Office of the Clerk without further direction of
the court; and it is further

ORDERED that any plaintiff, who believes its action should not be
dismissed, file a motion to stay said dismissal by September 26,
2005; and it is further

ORDERED that any plaintiff, who intends to file a motion as to
why its action should not be dismissed, and whose action is con-
tained in the Court’s CM/ECF System, electronically file its motion
using the CM/ECF docket event Motion to Stay; and it is further

ORDERED that any plaintiff, who intends to file a motion as to
why its action should not be dismissed, and whose action is not con-
tained in the Court’s CM/ECF System, file its motion manually ti-
tling the document Motion to Stay; and it is further

ORDERED that the defendant respond by October 28, 2005 to
each motion to stay dismissal filed by a plaintiff; and it is further

ORDERED that any plaintiff, whose action also contains a non-
HMT claim, and who intends to pursue that claim, file a motion to
sever the non-HMT claim into a new case by September 26, 2005;
and it is further

ORDERED that any plaintiff, who intends to file a Motion to
Sever, and whose action is contained in the Court’s CM/ECF Sys-
tem, electronically file its motion using the CM/ECF docket event
Motion to Sever; and it is further

ORDERED that any plaintiff, who intends to file a Motion to
Sever, and whose action is not contained in the Court’s CM/ECF
System, file its motion manually titling the document Motion to
Sever; and it is further

ORDERED that the Office of the Clerk serve a copy of a notice
implementing this order on each plaintiff who has a HMT case pend-
ing before the court; and it is further

ORDERED that the Office of the Clerk post a copy of this order on
the Harbor Maintenance Tax page on the Court’s Website.
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Slip. Op. 05–90

BEFORE: SENIOR JUDGE NICHOLAS TSOUCALAS

GLOBE METALLURGICAL, INC. and SIMCALA, INC., Plaintiffs, v.
UNITED STATES, Defendant, and BRATSK ALUMINIUM SMELTER and
RUAL TRADE LIMITED, Defendant-Intervenors.

Consol. Court No. 03–00202

[The United States Department of Commerce’s Final Remand Results are re-
manded.]

DLA Piper Rudnick Cary Gray US LLP, (William D. Kramer and Clifford E.
Stevens, Jr.), for Globe Metallurgical, Inc. and SIMCALA, Inc., plaintiffs.),

Peter D. Keisler, Assistant Attorney General; David M. Cohen, Director; Jeanne E.
Davidson, Deputy Director; Commercial Litigation Branch, Civil Division, United
States Department of Justice (Michael Panzera); of counsel: Jonathan J. Engler, Of-
fice of the Chief Counsel for Import Administration, United States Department of
Commerce, for the United States, defendant.

OPINION AND ORDER

I. Standard of Review

The Court will uphold the United States Department of Com-
merce’s (‘‘Commerce’’) redetermination pursuant to the Court’s re-
mand unless it is ‘‘unsupported by substantial evidence on the
record, or otherwise not in accordance with law.’’ 19 U.S.C.
§ 1516a(b)(1)(B)(I) (2000). Substantial evidence is ‘‘more than a
mere scintilla. It means such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind
might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.’’ Universal Cam-
era Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 477 (1951) (quoting Consol. Edison
Co. v. NLRB, 305 U.S. 197, 229 (1938)). Substantial evidence ‘‘is
something less than the weight of the evidence, and the possibility of
drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not pre-
vent an administrative agency’s finding from being supported by
substantial evidence.’’ Consolo v. Fed. Mar. Comm’n, 383 U.S. 607,
620 (1966) (citations omitted).

II. Background

The relevant facts and procedural history in this case are set forth
in the Court’s remand opinion, Globe Metallurgical, Inc. v. United
States, 28 CIT , 350 F. Supp. 2d 1148 (2004). Commerce deter-
mined that market economy Russian values did not constitute ‘‘the
best available information,’’ and, therefore, such values were not
used to calculate normal value (‘‘NV’’). See Notice of Final Determi-
nation of Sales at Less Than Fair Value for Silicon Metal From the
Russian Federation (‘‘Final Determination’’), 68 Fed. Reg. 6,885 (Feb.
11, 2003), as amended by Notice of Amended Final Determination of
Sales at Less Than Fair Value for Silicon Metal From the Russian
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Federation (‘‘Amended Final Determination’’) 68 Fed. Reg. 12,037
(Mar. 13, 2003). In its Final Determination, Commerce excluded the
cost of recycled silicon metal fines as a factor of production of silicon
metal produced by Bratsk Aluminium Smelter (‘‘Bratsk’’), Zao
Kremny (‘‘Kremny’’) and SUAL-Kremny-Ural Ltd. (‘‘SKU’’). See Fi-
nal Determination 68 Fed. Reg. at 6,885. On September 24, 2004, the
Court issued a remand order directing Commerce to: (1) use Russian
market economy values or explain why such values are not ‘‘the best
available information;’’ and, (2) explain why it excluded recycled sili-
con metal fines from its factor of production cost analysis. See Globe,
28 CIT at , 350 F. Supp. 2d at 1161. Subsequent to the Court’s
remand, Bratsk entered a notice of voluntary dismissal on December
1, 2004, and withdrew its challenge to Commerce’s use of values
other than Russian market economy values in calculating NV. See
Stipulation of Dismissal. Accordingly, this issue is moot.

Commerce filed its final results of redetermination pursuant to
court remand (‘‘Final Remand Results’’) on December 23, 2004.
Plaintiffs, Globe Metallurgical, Inc. and SIMCALA, Inc. (collectively,
‘‘Globe’’) filed comments to Commerce’s Final Remand Results on
January 25, 2005.1 See Pls.’ Comments Remand Determination
(‘‘Globe’s Comments’’). Commerce filed its response to Globe’s Com-
ments on March 8, 2005. See Def.’s Resp. Pls.’ Comments (‘‘Com-
merce’s Reply’’). Globe filed rebuttal comments on March 25, 2005.
See Reply Resp. Pls.’ Comments Remand Redetermination (‘‘Globe’s
Reply’’). Globe agrees with all aspects of Commerce’s determinations
on remand except with respect to the antidumping duty margin cal-
culated for Kremny.

III. Commerce Reasonably Explained its Determination to
Include and Value Recycled Silicon Metal Fines as a
Factor of Production

In its Final Remand Results, Commerce determined that the us-
age of silicon metal fines sized zero to five millimeters were included
in the production quantity provided by Bratsk and Kremny. See Fi-
nal Remand Results at 3. Accordingly, Commerce determined that
the usage of such fines in the production of the subject merchandise
should have been valued and included in the calculation of NV. See
id. Commerce, however, found that SKU had excluded silicon metal
fines from its factors of production because it treated such fines as a
byproduct. See id. at 11–12. In its Final Determination, Commerce
did not adjust SKU’s reported production figure. See Remand Results
at 7–8. Commerce granted SKU a byproduct offset for the sale and
reuse of silicon metal fines. See id. at 12. Accordingly, Commerce de-

1 Bratsk and Rual Trade Limited did not file a response to Commerce’s Final Remand
Results.
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termined that, for SKU, the use of silicon metal fines to produce sili-
con metal should not be included in the calculation of NV ‘‘because it
represents the reuse of a byproduct and no costs have been allocated
to SKU’s silicon metal sized zero to five millimeters.’’ Id.

Commerce reviewed the record and determined that the composi-
tion, use, and value of quartzite fines and silicon metal fines were
different and precluded the use of the former as a surrogate value for
the latter. See Final Remand Results at 8–9. Consequently, Com-
merce determined that Kremny and Bratsk’s surrogate-valued cost
of manufacture of silicon metal constituted ‘‘the best available infor-
mation.’’ See id. at 9–10. Accordingly, such values were used as sur-
rogate values for Kremny and Bratsk’s silicon metal fines sized zero
to five millimeters. See id. Based on the record evidence, Commerce
found it appropriate to account for and value Kremny’s consumption
of silicon metal fines sized zero to five millimeters during its produc-
tion of silicon metal. See id. at 10–11. As a result, Commerce recalcu-
lated Kremny’s antidumping duty margin. See id. at 11.

Commerce found that there was substantial record evidence indi-
cating that Bratsk included the usage of recycled silicon metal fines
in its production figure. See id. at 12. While there was record evi-
dence ‘‘that Bratsk reuse[d] at least some silicon metal, there [was]
no information on its usage amount of silicon metal sized zero to five
millimeters in the production of silicon metal.’’ Id. at 13. Accordingly,
Commerce used non-adverse facts available because Bratsk had
been cooperative and acted to the best of its ability to provide infor-
mation during the proceeding. See id. To value recycled silicon metal
fines for Bratsk, Commerce assumed that the difference between the
production and reported sales of silicon metal sized zero to five milli-
meters represented the amount of silicon metal fines reused by
Bratsk. See id. at 14. Commerce calculated a per-unit rate by divid-
ing the quantity of silicon metal reused by Bratsk’s total production
of silicon metal. See id. Commerce applied Bratsk’s cost of manufac-
ture to value its consumption of silicon metal fines sized zero to five
millimeters and recalculated the antidumping duty margin accord-
ingly. See id.

Commerce recalculated the antidumping duty margins for
Kremny and Bratsk to 56.20 percent and 87.08 percent, respectively.
See Final Remand Results at 15. All parties agree with Commerce’s
determination to capture the cost of recycled fines in NV and with
Commerce’s recalculated antidumping margin for Bratsk.2 See
Globe’s Comments at 2. The Court finds that Commerce reasonably
explained why each producer’s surrogate-valued cost of manufacture
was the ‘‘best available information’’. See Universal Camera, 340

2 No party contested the reporting of SKU’s production quantity, therefore Commerce
made no adjustments to SKU’s reported production figure. See Final Remand Results at
7–8.

U.S. COURT OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE 143



U.S. at 477. Commerce also reasonably explained why recycled sili-
con metal fines sized zero to five millimeters should be included in
its calculation of NV. Moreover, Commerce’s determination is sup-
ported by substantial record evidence and in accordance with law.
Therefore, the Court affirms Commerce’s determination to include
recycled silicon metal fines as a factor of production and its determi-
nation to use each producer’s surrogate-valued cost of manufacture
as the best available information. Furthermore, the Court affirms
Commerce’s recalculated antidumping duty margin for Bratsk.

IV. Commerce’s Calculation of Kremny’s Antidumping Duty
Margin

A. Background

In its Preliminary Determination, Commerce used adverse facts
available to determine the antidumping duty margin for Kremny’s
United States sales made through its affiliated United States com-
pany. See Notice of Preliminary Determination of Sales at Less Than
Fair Value and Postponement of Final Determination for Silicon
Metal From the Russian Federation (‘‘Preliminary Determination’’),
67 Fed. Reg. 59,253, 59,260 (September 20, 2002). In determining
Kremny’s antidumping duty margin, Commerce based a percentage
of Kremny’s dumping margin on Bratsk’s rate. See id. In its Final
Determination and Amended Final Determination, Commerce used
Bratsk’s dumping margin of 77.51 percent and 79.42, respectively, as
adverse facts available and weight averaged these rates with the
margin calculated for the remaining Kremny sales. See Final Deter-
mination, 68 Fed. Reg. at 6,888; Amended Final Determination, 68
Fed. Reg. at 12,039. For the Final Remand Results, Commerce recal-
culated the antidumping duty margin for Kremny using the 79.42
percent rate found for Bratsk in the Amended Final Determination.
See Final Remand Results.

B. Contentions of the Parties

1. Globe’s Contentions

Globe contends that in calculating Kremny’s antidumping duty
rate, Commerce should have used the corrected 87.08 percent mar-
gin found for Bratsk in the Final Remand Results. See Globe’s Com-
ments. Globe asserts that Commerce correctly used the margin cal-
culated for Bratsk as adverse facts available and weight-averaged
this rate with the margin calculated for the remaining Kremny
sales. See id. at 4–5. Globe, however, argues that Commerce errone-
ously ‘‘used the invalidated 79.42 percent rate found for Bratsk in
the Amended Final Determination’’ as adverse facts available. Id. at
5. Commerce offered no explanation for its failure to use the cor-
rected rate for Bratsk. See id. Moreover, the antidumping duty mar-
gin for Kremny is inaccurate because it does not completely capture
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the cost of recycled fines. See id. at 7. Globe also argues that Com-
merce did not provide notice of its determination to use the Bratsk
rate calculated for the Amended Final Determination. See Globe’s
Reply at 5. Commerce corrected the antidumping margin for Bratsk
in the Final Remand Results, which substantially increased the anti-
dumping duty margin from the two prior determinations. See id. It
did not become clear, however, that Commerce had improperly se-
lected the lower, previously ‘‘invalidated’’ rate as adverse facts avail-
able for Kremny until after the Final Remand Results had been pub-
lished. See id. at 4–6.

2. Commerce’s Contentions

Commerce argues that Globe failed to raise the issue of Com-
merce’s reliance upon the 79.42 antidumping duty margin for Bratsk
prior to the publication of the Final Remand Results. See Com-
merce’s Reply at 7. Commerce maintains that Globe ‘‘had the oppor-
tunity and sufficient time in which to raise arguments concerning
the relevance of Bratsk’s new [adverse facts available] margin for
Kremny’s rate, but Globe failed to take advantage of that opportu-
nity.’’ Id. Commerce contends that its draft remand results put Globe
on notice that it did not intend to update Kremny’s margin to reflect
the new Bratsk rate. See id. Accordingly, Commerce asserts that
Globe failed to exhaust its administrative remedies and that it now
‘‘seeks to circumvent the administrative proceedings and preclude
Commerce from addressing the issue in the first instance to adjust
its remand determination accordingly, if appropriate. . . .’’ Id. at 8.
Commerce, therefore, argues that the Court should reject Globe’s ar-
guments and sustain the Final Remand Results. See id. at 9.

Commerce alternatively asserts that a remand may be necessary
because it did not explain why the recalculated Bratsk antidumping
duty margin of 87.08 percent was not used in applying adverse facts
available for United States sales by Kremny. See id. Accordingly,
Commerce requests the Court to remand this case for Commerce to
provide an explanation for its determination, and, if warranted, re-
calculate the antidumping margin for Kremny. See id.

C. Analysis

The Court agrees with Globe and finds that Commerce’s use of the
Bratsk antidumping duty rate calculated for the Amended Final De-
termination to calculate Kremny’s antidumping duty margin for the
Final Remand Results is not in accordance with law. The Court finds
that Commerce did not use an ‘‘invalidated’’ rate as argued by Globe.
See Globe’s Comments at 5. Rather, Commerce used a previously
abandoned rate in lieu of a subsequently corrected rate in its calcu-
lation of Kremny’s antidumping duty rate. Nevertheless, ‘‘[w]hile an
abandoned rate is not quite the same as a rate invalidated by a
court . . . it is very close.’’ Pulton Chain Co., Inc. v. United States, 21
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CIT 1290, 1293 (1997). Commerce adjusted and redetermined the
antidumping duty margin for Kremny and Bratsk to 56.20 percent
and 87.08 percent, respectively. See Final Remand Results at 15. Al-
though Commerce calculated an 87.08 percent rate for Bratsk, Com-
merce based a percentage of Kremny’s sales made to the United
States on the previously abandoned rate of 79.42 percent, found in
its earlier Amended Final Determination. See Final Remand Results.
Commerce, however, has failed to provide any explanation for its de-
parture and use of a previously abandoned rate. and why it did not
use Bratsk’s recalculated antidumping duty margin in the Final Re-
mand Results.

Commerce argues that the doctrine of exhaustion precludes judi-
cial review of Commerce’s use of the lower rate found for Bratsk in
the Amended Final Determination. See Commerce’s Resp. at 6–7.
Generally, the exhaustion doctrine requires a party to present its
claims to the relevant administrative agency for the agency’s consid-
eration before raising these claims to the Court. See Unemployment
Compensation Comm’n of Alaska v. Aragon, 329 U.S. 143, 155 (1946)
(‘‘A reviewing court usurps the agency’s function when it sets aside
the administrative determination upon a ground not theretofore pre-
sented and deprives the [agency] of an opportunity to consider the
matter, make its ruling, and state the reasons for its action.’’) Con-
gress, however, has granted the Court with discretion to determine
when it is appropriate to require the exhaustion doctrine. See China
Steel Corp. v. United States, 28 CIT , , 306 F. Supp. 2d 1291,
1310 (2004). The court has recognized certain exceptions to the ap-
plication of the exhaustion doctrine. One such applicable exception
arises when the respondent is not given the opportunity to raise its
objections at the administrative level because Commerce did not ad-
dress the issue until the final determination. See Philipp Bros., Inc.
v. United States, 10 CIT 76, 83–84, 630 F. Supp. 1317, 1324 (1986);
see also Hebei Metals & Minerals Imp. & Exp. Corp. v. United States,
2004 Ct. Intl. Trade LEXIS 89. Although Commerce enjoys broad
latitude in choosing the information it relies on, its discretion is not
unlimited. See Shandong Huarong Gen. Corp. v. United States, 25
CIT 834, 838, 159 F. Supp. 2d 714, 719 (2001). Commerce must exer-
cise its discretion ‘‘in a manner consistent with the underlying objec-
tive of 19 U.S.C. § 1677b(c)—to obtain the most accurate dumping
margins possible.’’ Id.

In the case at bar, Globe never challenged Commerce’s determina-
tion to use the lower Bratsk rate calculated in its earlier determina-
tion. It only became apparent, however, that Commerce would use
the lower Brastk rate when the Final Remand Results were re-
leased. Globe commented on several errors made by Commerce in its
draft remand determination. See Globe’s Reply at 4–6. It was only in
the Final Remand Results, however, that Commerce corrected these
errors, which significantly increased the antidumping duty margin
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for Bratsk from 79.42 percent to 87.08 percent. See Final Remand
Results at 15. The Court finds that the exhaustion doctrine is inap-
plicable because Globe did not have the opportunity to contest the
use of the lower rate or the recalculation of Kremny’s antidumping
duty margin until after the Final Remand Results were published.
Cf. Philipp Bros., 10 CIT at 83–84, 630 F. Supp. at 1324. To hold oth-
erwise would be ‘‘overly technical and unfair’’ to Globe. Hebei Metals,
2004 Ct. Intl. Trade LEXIS 89, at *29.

Consequently, the Court rejects Commerce’s exhaustion argument
and declines to defer to Commerce’s methodology because its deter-
mination is not supported by substantial evidence or in accordance
with law.

CONCLUSION AND ORDER

The Court concludes that Commerce reasonably determined to in-
clude the cost of recycled silicon metal fines sized zero to five milli-
meters in the calculation of NV for Bratsk and Kremny. Moreover,
the Court finds that Commerce’s calculation of Bratsk’s antidumping
duty margin is supported by substantial evidence and in accordance
with law. Commerce, however, failed to provide a reasonable expla-
nation for its use of an abandoned antidumping duty margin, rather
than the recalculated margin, in its calculation of Kremny’s anti-
dumping duty margin. Commerce’s determination to use the 79.42
percent antidumping duty rate for Bratsk calculated in its Amended
Final Results is not supported by substantial evidence. Accordingly,
the Court remands this case to Commerce to recalculate the anti-
dumping duty margin for Kremny or explain why it used the aban-
doned margin for Bratsk to calculate Kremny’s antidumping duty
margin for the Final Remand Results. For the foregoing reasons, it is
hereby

ORDERED that Commerce’s determination to include recycled
silicon metal fines sized zero to five millimeters in its factors of pro-
duction cost analysis is affirmed; it is further

ORDERED that Commerce’s calculation of Bratsk’s antidumping
duty margin is affirmed; it is further

ORDERED that this case is remanded to Commerce with instruc-
tions to: (a) recalculate Kremny’s antidumping duty margin using
the antidumping duty margin for Bratsk calculated in the Final Re-
mand Results or explain the use of the Bratsk margin from the
Amended Final Determination; and its is further

ORDERED that Commerce shall have ninety (90) days, until Oc-
tober 27, 2005, to complete and file its remand determination; plain-
tiffs shall have thirty (30) days from that filing to file comments, and
Commerce and defendant-intervenors shall have twenty (20) days
after plaintiffs’ comments are filed to file any reply.
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